
 

In compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act, reasonable accommodations for individuals with disabilities 

will be provided upon request. For assistance, please call (435) 752-0431. 
 

 
NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA  

Thursday, March 14, 2024 – 6:30 p.m. 
 

In accordance with Utah Code Annotated 52-4-207 and Nibley City Resolution 12-04, this meeting may be conducted electronically. The 

anchor location for the meeting will be Nibley City Hall, 455 West 3200 South, Nibley, Utah. The public may also participate in the meeting 

via the Zoom meeting link provided at www.nibleycity.com. Public comment should be submitted to cheryl@nibleycity.com by 6:30 p.m. 
and will be read into the public record. 

 

 

1. Opening Ceremonies (Mayor Jacobsen) 

2. Call to Order and Roll Call (Chair) 

3. Approval of the February 22, 2024, Meeting Minutes and the Current Agenda (Chair) 

4. Public Comment Period1 (Chair) 

5. Planning Commission Report 

 

6. Presentation – CAPSA presentation regarding Child Abuse Prevention/Sexual Assault Awareness 

7. Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-04—Accepting the Nibley City Audit for Fiscal Year 2022-23 

(First Reading) 

8. Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-06—Authorizing the Mayor of Nibley City or Designee to Vote on 

Behalf of Nibley City’s Interests Regarding Canal Company Watershares (First Reading)  

9. Discussion & Consideration: Ordinance 24-03—Development Agreement with R & W ENTERPRISES INC, 

Together With PROJECT VALOR to Allow Construction of One (1) Casita on Parcel 03-020-0018, Located at 

110 W 2600 S, to House Transitioning and/or Homeless Veterans Within a Legally Non-Conforming Mobile 

Home Park, Setting Forth Conditions and Standards for Its Construction (Second Reading) 

10. Discussion and Consideration: Ordinance 24-02: Rezone Parcel 03-018-0015 & a portion of parcel 03-017-

0012. Located at 1150 W 3200 S from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A) (First Reading) 

11. Discussion and Consideration: Ordinance 24-04: Rezone Parcel 03-0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, located at 

1405 W 3200 S from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A) (First Reading) 

12. Discussion & Consideration: Accepting the Contract to Complete an Indoor Recreation Feasibility Plan 

13. Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-07— Approving a Contract (Letter of Engagement) for Legal 

Services for Nibley City (First Reading) 

14. Council and Staff Report 

 

Adjourn 

Nibley City’s next scheduled Council meeting will be on Thursday, April 11, 2024. 

 
 

 
1 Public input is welcomed at all City Council Meetings. 15 minutes have been allotted to receive verbal public comment. Verbal comments shall 

be limited to 3 minutes per person. A sign-up sheet is available at the entrance to the Council Chambers starting 15 minutes prior to each 

council meeting and at the rostrum for the duration of the public comment period. Commenters shall identify themselves by name and address on 

the comment form and verbally for inclusion in the record.  Comment will be taken in the order shown on the sign-up sheet. Written comment 

will also be accepted and entered into the record for the meeting if received prior to the conclusion of the meeting. Comments determined by the 

presiding officer to be in violation of Council meeting rules shall be ruled out of order. 

http://www.nibleycity.com/
mailto:cheryl@nibleycity.com
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Nibley City Council 

          Agenda Report for 

March 14, 2024 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item #6 

  

Description Presentation – CAPSA presentation regarding Child 
Abuse Prevention/Sexual Assault Awareness 

Presenter 
Maddie Soto or another CAPSA representative 

Recommendation Listen to the presentation. Ask pertinent questions. Offer 
support and encouragement. 

Reviewed By 
Mayor, City Manager 

 

Background: 

  

April is sexual assault awareness month. A CAPSA representative would like to give a 

brief presentation, and request the City Council and city staff’s support. 
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Agenda Item #7 

 

Description Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-04—
Accepting the Nibley City Audit for Fiscal Year 2022-
23 (First Reading) 

Presenter John Haderlie, Larson & Company Certified Public 
Accountants 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

NA 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Move to approve Resolution 24-04—Accepting the 
Nibley City Audit for Fiscal Year 2022-23 and waive 
the second reading. 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager, City Treasurer, Staff 
 

 

Background 

No Additional background from last meeting. 

 

Back ground from 2-22-24. State law requires that the annual audited financial 

statement be presented to the City Council within six months of the end of the fiscal 

year, which ends June 30. The City has engaged the services of an independent 

auditor, Larson and Company - CPAs, to provide these services and present audited 

financials to the Council. 

 

In performing the audit, the firm reviewed the City’s financial records, worked with staff 

members, including the City Manager, City Treasurer, Accountant, Dave Sanderson and 

others, contacted organizations with which the City has financial dealings, and verified 

multiple compliance items. 
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RESOLUTION 24-04 

 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE NIBLEY CITY AUDIT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022-23 

 

WHEREAS, State law requires that independent audits of all cities are required to be performed in conformity 

with Title 51, Chapter 2a, Accounting Reports from Political Subdivisions, Interlocal Organizations, and Other 

Local Entities Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, every year an independent auditor certifies that Nibley City financial statements meet the 

requirements of GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) and GASB (Government Accounting 

Standards Board), and Utah State; and 

 

WHEREAS, Utah State law requires that the annual audited financial statement be presented to the City 

Council within six months of the end of the fiscal year, which ended June 30, 2023; and  

 

WHEREAS, Nibley City regards its fiduciary responsibilities among its highest of priorities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF NIBLEY CITY, STATE OF UTAH, 

AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Nibley City Council accepts the Nibley City Audit for Fiscal Year 2022-23 as presented by independent 

auditor Larson and Company. 

 

PASSED and ADOPTED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS ______ DAY OF ____________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder 
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To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council
Nibley , Utah

We have audited the financial statements of Nibley City as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2023. Professional Standards require that we advise you of the 
following matters related to our audit. 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit
As communicated in our engagement letter dated October 17, 2023, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been 
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements 
does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, 
rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our 
audit, we considered the internal control of Nibley City solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures
and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional 
judgement, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not 
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you. 

We have provided our finding regarding significant control deficiencies and material weaknesses, if applicable, 
and material noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit at the end of this communication letter in 
the schedule of findings section. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you. 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and our network firms have complied with all 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence. 

Significant Risks Identified
We have identified the following significant risks:

As part of our risk-based audit, we design certain extended procedures over areas where we deemed to pose a 
more significant audit risk based on the nature of the industry and complexity of the entity. We have identified the 
following significant risks during our audit that we had performed additional procedures for:

Improper revenue recognition

Cash disbursements

Potential management bias, financial statement estimates, and management’s ability to override 
controls. 

Based on our audit procedures performed, we did not identify any uncorrected material misstatements related to 
these risks noted.
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Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by Nibley City are included in Note 1 to the financial statements. There 
have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or their 
application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional 
standards, to inform your about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the 
effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management’s current judgements. Those judgements are normally based on knowledge and experience about
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly 
sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current judgements. 

Financial Statement Disclosures

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management related to the performance of our audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements
For purposes of this communication, professional standards also require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicated them to 
the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the effect of 
uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classis of transactions, account balances or 
disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each applicable opinion unit. All proposed entries were 
approved by management and were posted to the entity’s financial records.

Disagreements with Management
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether 
or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be 
significant to the entity’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements arose during the 
course of the audit. 

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report
For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that affect the 
form and content of our auditor’s report. We noted nothing to report to Those Charged with Governance. 

Management Representations
We have requested certain representations from management, which are included in the management 
representation letter dated December 6, 2023.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matter. 
Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants 
regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues
In the normal course of our professional association with the entity, we generally discuss a variety of matters, 
including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or transactions that 
occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and 
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a 
condition or our retention as the entity’s auditors.
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Other Matters
We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis and required supplementary 
information (RSI) as listed in the table of contents, which are RSI that supplements the basic financial statements. 
Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit 
the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board and management of Nibley City and is 
not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,

Larson & Company, PC

Spanish Fork, Utah
December 6, 2023
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Internal control findings – Current year
There were no internal control findings noted in the current year. 

State compliance findings – Current year
There were no state compliance findings noted in the current year. 

Internal control findings – Prior year
There were no internal control findings noted in the prior year. 

State compliance findings – Prior year
There were no state compliance findings noted in the prior year. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members
Nibley City, Utah

Report on the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Nibley City, Utah, as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Nibley City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of Nibley City, and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Nibley City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Nibley City’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a   
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substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Nibley City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about Nibley City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis comparison information, and other required supplementary information as indicated in 
the Table of Contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not 
a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 6, 2023, on 
our consideration of Nibley City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Nibley City’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Nibley City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance.

Larson & Company, PC

Spanish Fork, Utah
December 6, 2023
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This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of Nibley City’s financial performance is designed to 
assist readers in understanding the City’s basic financial statements the relationship of different types of 
statements, and the significant differences in the information they provide. The MD&A will identify 
changes in the City’s ability to address the next and subsequent years financial needs based on currently 
known facts, and is best understood if read in conjunction with Nibley City’s basic financial statements. 

Financial highlights as of the close of FY 2023

During the year 2023 the total net position of the City increased by $4,927,810 to a total of $52,882,453.
The governmental net position increased by $4,028,719 and the business-type net position increased by 
$899,091.

The total net position (governmental and business-type activities) of the City consists of $37,804,617 in
capital assets, net of related debt, $5,059,644 in restricted net position and $10,018,192 in unrestricted 
net position. 

The total long-term liabilities of the City decreased by $178,571, which includes the net pension liability,
during the fiscal year 2023. Regular principal payments were made on existing bonds and notes. 

Reporting the City as a whole

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements. The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed so that all governmental and business-type 
activities are reported in columns, which add to a total for the primary government. The Statement of Net 
Position provides bottom line results of the City’s activities as a whole and presents a longer-term view of 
the City’s finances. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about 
Nibley City’s financial position and activities in the following categories. 

Governmental activities – The governmental activities of the City include general government, public 
safety, parks and recreation, and public works.

Business-type activities – these include the water, sewer, storm water utilities, as well as the municipal 
building authority. 

Refer to the table of contents for the location of the Government-wide financial statements. 

Fund Financial Statements

Funds are accounting devices that the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending 
for particular purposes. The fund financial statements provide detailed information that focus on the most 
significant funds rather than the City as a whole. Major funds are separately reported to control and 
manage money and to show that legal responsibilities are met for certain taxes, grants, and other 
designated funds. Nibley City uses the following types of funds: 
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Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources at the end 
of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term effect of the city’s near-term financing decisions. Both 
the governmental balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities. 

The only governmental funds (as determined by generally accepted accounting principles) are the 
General Fund and the Capital Projects Fund. The City’s only non-major fund is the First Responder 
Fund. 

Proprietary Funds – The City maintains four proprietary funds, all enterprise funds, to account for its 
Water, Sewer, Storm Water Utilities, and the Municipal Building Authority operations. Enterprise funds 
are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements. As determined by general accepted accounting principles, the Water, Sewer, 
Storm Water utilities, and the Municipal Building Authority all meet the criteria for major fund 
classification. 

Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the government. The City currently has no fiduciary funds. 

Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Refer to the table of contents for the location of the fund financial statements and notes to the financial 
statements. 

Other Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning Nibley City.

Government-wide financial analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position. In the case of Nibley City, assets exceeded liabilities by $52,882,453 at the close of the most 
recent fiscal year. 

By far the largest portion of the City’s net position (71 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets 
(e.g., land, buildings, machinery & equipment, and infrastructure), less depreciation and any debt used to 
acquire those assets that is still outstanding. Nibley City uses these capital assets to provide services to 
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment 
in capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. 
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The following schedules present summarized information from the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of activities. 

Nibley City’s Net Position

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current and other assets 10,745,014$ 8,773,216$ 6,142,505$ 5,530,797$ 16,887,519$ 14,304,013$
Capital assets 23,085,616 22,844,650 17,643,698 17,927,696 40,729,314 40,772,346
Deferred Outflows 174,668 118,630 67,288 45,700 241,956 164,330
   Total assets 34,005,298 31,736,496 23,853,491 23,504,193 57,858,789 55,240,689
Other liabilities 459,881 2,014,342 150,571 297,150 610,452 2,311,492
Long-term liabilities outstanding 173,039 81,524 3,179,223 3,449,309 3,352,262 3,530,833
Deferred Inflows 1,011,792 1,308,763 1,830 134,958 1,013,622 1,443,721
   Total liabilities 1,644,712 3,404,629 3,331,624 3,881,417 4,976,336 7,286,046
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 23,085,616 22,844,650 14,719,001 14,719,999 37,804,617 37,564,649
Restricted 2,907,207 2,077,002 2,152,437 2,011,674 5,059,644 4,088,676
Unrestricted 6,367,763 3,410,215 3,650,429 2,891,103 10,018,192 6,301,318
   Total Net Position 32,360,586$ 28,331,867$ 20,521,867$ 19,622,776$ 52,882,453$ 47,954,643$

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

A portion of Nibley City’s net position (10 percent) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. 

At the end of the year, Nibley City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net position. 

Nibley City’s Changes in Net Position

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues:
Program revenues:
   Charges for services 3,534,578$ 2,677,786$ 2,723,205$ 2,488,447$ 6,257,783$ 5,166,233$
   Operating grants and contribs 6,934 5,500 - - 6,934 5,500
   Capital grants and contribs 1,163,126 3,970,015 498,480 2,790,172 1,661,606 6,760,187
General revenues:
   Property taxes 982,918 795,906 - - 982,918 795,906
   Sales taxes 1,387,313 1,285,298 - - 1,387,313 1,285,298
   Other taxes 747,515 643,169 - - 747,515 643,169
   Impact fees 517,618 641,728 328,548 585,041 846,166 1,226,769
   Unrestricted investment earnings 312,148 36,406 201,157 31,442 513,305 67,848
   Other 126,524 3,326,076 93,043 140,367 219,567 3,466,443
      Total revenues 8,778,674 13,381,884 3,844,433 6,035,469 12,623,107 19,417,353

Expenses:
   Highways and streets 939,711 906,224 - - 939,711 906,224
   Administration 598,213 585,771 - - 598,213 585,771
   Sanitation 603,743 585,916 - - 603,743 585,916
   Public Safety 503,861 461,069 - - 503,861 461,069
Public works 403,110 337,138 - - 403,110 337,138
Non-departmental 487,965 437,360 - - 487,965 437,360
Planning and zoning 332,013 280,066 - - 332,013 280,066
Culture, parks, and recreation 425,566 362,405 - - 425,566 362,405
Legislative 50,977 55,856 - - 50,977 55,856
Community development 404,796 316,985 - - 404,796 316,985
Water - - 1,018,023 893,706 1,018,023 893,706
Sewer - - 1,589,725 1,377,173 1,589,725 1,377,173
Municipal building authority - - 71,271 71,983 71,271 71,983
Storm water - - 266,323 273,310 266,323 273,310
Total expenses 4,749,955 4,328,790 2,945,342 2,616,172 7,695,297 6,944,962
Increase (decrease) in Net Position 4,028,719 9,053,094 899,091 3,419,297 4,927,810 12,472,391
Net Position - Beginning 28,331,867 19,278,773 19,622,776 16,203,479 47,954,643 35,482,252
Net Position - Ending 32,360,586$ 28,331,867$ 20,521,867$ 19,622,776$ 52,882,453$ 47,954,643$

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
Governmental funds

The focus of Nibley City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, 
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing Nibley City’s financing 
requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s 
net resources available for spending at the end of the year. 

At the end of the year, Nibley City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balance of 
$9,278,094, an increase of $3,723,487 in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 17 percent of this 
amount ($1,550,637) constitutes unreserved fund balance, which is available for spending at the 
government’s discretion. The remainder of fund balance is reserved to indicate that it is not available for 
new spending because it has already been committed. 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of Nibley City. All activities which are not required to be 
accounted for either by state or local ordinance or by a desire to maintain a matching of revenues and 
expenditures are accounted for in this fund. At the end of the current year, unreserved fund balance of the 
general fund was $1,550,637. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare 
unreserved fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unreserved fund balance 
represents 35 percent of total general fund revenues. 

Taxes continue to be the largest source of revenue in the General Fund and represent 47 percent of total 
general fund revenues. The two largest elements of taxes are property taxes and sales taxes. Combined, 
they represent 76 percent of total tax revenues and 36 percent of total general fund revenues. 

Proprietary funds

Nibley City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail. 

Unrestricted net position of the proprietary funds at the end of the year amounted to $3,650,429.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

During the current fiscal year the General Fund budget for revenue was $5,408,650. The actual revenue 
was $6,609,639. This resulted in a favorable variance of $1,200,989 for revenue. The General Fund 
budget for expenditures was $6,013,650. The actual expenditures were $4,000,171. This resulted in a 
favorable variance of $2,013,479 for expenditures. Overall, the City had a favorable variance for the 
excess of revenues over expenditures of $3,214,468.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets

Nibley City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 
2023, amounts to $40,729,314 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets 
includes land, land improvements, buildings, machinery and equipment, park facilities, roads and 
infrastructure (streets, sidewalks, curb and gutter, etc.). The total decrease in Nibley City’s investment in 
capital assets for the current year was $43,032 and depreciation expense was $1,528,755.
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Nibley City’s Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Land and water rights 7,427,833$ 7,427,833$ 508,132$ 508,132$ 7,935,965$ 7,935,965$
Buildings and improvements 10,723,453 10,605,989 16,611,742 16,777,514 27,335,195 27,383,503
Machinery and equipment 234,764 213,402 442,127 560,353 676,891 773,755
Infrastructure 4,699,566 4,597,426 - - 4,699,566 4,597,426
Construction in progress - - 81,697 81,697 81,697 81,697

Total 23,085,616$ 22,844,650$ 17,643,698$ 17,927,696$ 40,729,314$ 40,772,346$

Governmental Business-type Total

Additional information on Nibley City’s capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Long-term debt

At the end of the current year, Nibley City had long term debt outstanding of $3,225,701. The debt 
represents both general obligation bonds and revenue bonds secured solely by specified revenue 
sources, capital leases payable, notes payable, and/or compensated absences.

Nibley City’s Outstanding Debt

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Compensated absences 81,675$ 81,524$ 18,026$ 41,309$ 99,701$ 122,833$
Revenue bonds - - 3,126,000 3,408,000 3,126,000 3,408,000

Total 81,675$ 81,524$ 3,144,026$ 3,449,309$ 3,225,701$ 3,530,833$

Governmental Business-type Total

Additional information on Nibley City’s debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Nibley City’s finances for all those with 
an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Nibley City, 455 West 3200 
South, Nibley, Utah 84321.
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Basic Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include integrated sets of financial statements as required by 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The statements 
include: 

- Government-wide financial statements

- Fund financial statements

o Governmental funds
o Proprietary (enterprise) funds
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As of June 30, 2023
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Cash and cash equivalents 6,345,707$ 3,689,399$ 10,035,106$
Receivables, net
  Taxes 1,301,287 - 1,301,287
  Accounts 78,740 300,669 379,409
  Intergovernmental 112,073 - 112,073
Restricted cash 2,907,207 2,152,437 5,059,644
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
   Land and water rights (not depreciated) 7,427,833 508,132 7,935,965
   Buildings and improvements 10,723,453 16,611,742 27,335,195
   Equipment 234,764 442,127 676,891
   Infrastructure 4,699,566 - 4,699,566
   Construction in progress (not depreciated) - 81,697 81,697
   Total assets 33,830,630 23,786,203 57,616,833

Deferred outflows of resources - pensions 174,668 67,288 241,956
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 34,005,298 23,853,491 57,858,789

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Accounts payable 459,881 130,182 590,063
Accrued interest payable - 20,389 20,389
Current portion of compensated absences 28,586 9,554 38,140
Current portion of bonds payable - 283,000 283,000
Non-Current:
  Compensated absences 53,089 8,472 61,561
  Bonds payable - 2,843,000 2,843,000
  Net pension liability 91,364 35,197 126,561
   Total liabilities 632,920 3,329,794 3,962,714

Deferred inflows of resources - property taxes 1,007,039 - 1,007,039
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions 4,753 1,830 6,583
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,644,712 3,331,624 4,976,336

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 23,085,616 14,719,001 37,804,617
Restricted 2,907,207 2,152,437 5,059,644
Unrestricted 6,367,763 3,650,429 10,018,192
Total Net Position 32,360,586$ 20,521,867$ 52,882,453$

Primary Government
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First 
Responder Total

General Capital Fund Governmental
Fund Project Fund (Nonmajor) Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1,448,983$ 4,909,488$ (12,764)$ 6,345,707$
Restricted cash 2,834,870 - 72,337 2,907,207
Receivables:
Taxes 1,301,287 - - 1,301,287
Accounts 65,976 - 12,764 78,740
Intergovernmental 112,073 - - 112,073

     Total assets 5,763,189 4,909,488 72,337 10,745,014

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS,
AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 370,643 89,238 - 459,881

Deferred inflows of resources 1,007,039 - - 1,007,039
   Total liabilities and deferred inflows 1,377,682 89,238 - 1,466,920

Fund balances:
Restricted - Impact fees/Capital outlay 2,834,870 - - 2,834,870
Restricted - First responders - - 72,337 72,337
Assigned - Capital outlay - 4,820,250 - 4,820,250
Unassigned 1,550,637 - - 1,550,637
   Total fund balances 4,385,507 4,820,250 72,337 9,278,094
      Total liabilities and fund balances 5,763,189$ 4,909,488$ 72,337$ 10,745,014$



Nibley City
Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Government-wide Net Position
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Total fund balances - governmental fund types: 9,278,094$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 
different because:

Capital assets and net pension assets used in governmental activities are not
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds: 23,085,616

Deferred inflows and outflows of resources, an acquisition or consumption of 
 net position that applies to future periods, is not shown in the fund statements.
               Deferred outflows of resources relating to pensions 174,668
               Deferred inflows of resources relating to pensions (4,753)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, compensated absences, and/or lease 
obligations are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the funds.
               Compensated Absences (81,675)
               Net Pension Liability (91,364)

Net Position of government activities 32,360,586$



Nibley City
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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First Responder Total
General Capital Fund Governmental

Fund Project Fund (non-major) Funds
REVENUES
Taxes

Sales taxes 1,387,313$ -$ -$ 1,387,313$
Property taxes 982,918 - - 982,918
Franchise taxes 452,736 - - 452,736
Mass transit tax 294,779 - - 294,779

Licenses and permits 179,923 - - 179,923
Intergovernmental revenue 792,133 377,927 - 1,170,060
Charges for services 1,585,983 1,405,862 140,657 3,132,502
Fines and forfeitures 549,578 - - 549,578
Interest income 203,508 107,527 1,113 312,148
Miscellaneous 180,768 9,425 - 190,193

   Total revenues 6,609,639 1,900,741 141,770 8,652,150

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Culture, parks, and recreation 441,935 - - 441,935
Highways and streets 293,107 - - 293,107
Administration 598,213 - - 598,213
Sanitation 603,743 - - 603,743
Public works 403,110 - - 403,110
Public safety 332,807 - 139,123 471,930
Non-departmental 260,636 - - 260,636
Planning and zoning 332,013 - - 332,013
Legislative 50,977 - - 50,977
Community development 404,796 - - 404,796
Capital outlay 278,834 633,885 - 912,719
   Total expenditures 4,000,171 633,885 139,123 4,773,179

Excess revenues over (under)
expenditures 2,609,468 1,266,856 2,647 3,878,971

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in - 1,330,000 - 1,330,000
Transfers out (1,330,000) - - (1,330,000)
Contributions to other government entities (155,484) - - (155,484)

Total other financing sources and uses (1,485,484) 1,330,000 - (155,484)
Excess of revenues and other sources 
  over (under) expenditures and other uses 1,123,984 2,596,856 2,647 3,723,487

Fund balances - beginning of year 3,261,523 2,223,394 69,690 5,554,607
Fund balances - end of year 4,385,507$ 4,820,250$ 72,337$ 9,278,094$



Nibley City
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Government-wide Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 3,723,487$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  
Developer contributions of assets are also not reported in fund statements as they 
do not represent current resources, but rather are included with capital assets on the 
Statement of Net Position. This is the amount by which capital outlay and developer 
contributions of assets exceeded depreciation in the current period. 240,966

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds.
   Change in Compensated Absences (151)
   Pension benefits/pension expenses resulting from pension liability 64,417

Change in net position of governmental activities 4,028,719$



Nibley City
Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds
As of June 30, 2023
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement 
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Water Sewer Municipal Storm Water
Fund Fund Building Authority Fund Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:
   Unrestricted 1,292,588$ 2,007,074$ 30,014$ 359,723$ 3,689,399$
   Restricted 689,247 1,244,567 - 218,623 2,152,437
Receivables:
Utilities (net of allowance) 138,049 137,953 - 24,667 300,669
    Total current assets 2,119,884 3,389,594 30,014 603,013 6,142,505

Noncurrent assets:
Property and Equipment:
Land and water rights 193,008 305,124 10,000 - 508,132
Construction in Progress - - - 81,697 81,697
Buildings and improvements 10,389,630 11,067,717 1,703,790 1,753,112 24,914,249
Machinery and equipment 437,196 903,813 77,854 237,966 1,656,829
Accumulated depreciation (3,568,967) (4,852,353) (707,445) (388,444) (9,517,209)
   Total noncurrent assets 7,450,867 7,424,301 1,084,199 1,684,331 17,643,698
   Total assets 9,570,751 10,813,895 1,114,213 2,287,344 23,786,203

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
    Deferred outflows related to pensions 25,943 29,370 - 11,975 67,288

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 9,596,694 10,843,265 1,114,213 2,299,319 23,853,491

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 25,633 98,155 - 6,394 130,182
Accrued interest payable - - 20,389 - 20,389
Compensated absences - current 2,766 3,505 - 3,283 9,554
Current portion of bonds payable - 260,000 23,000 - 283,000
   Total current liabilities 28,399 361,660 43,389 9,677 443,125

Noncurrent liabilities:
Advances to other funds - - - - -

Net Pension Liability 13,570 15,364 - 6,263 35,197
Compensated absences 2,210 2,443 - 3,819 8,472
Bonds payable - 2,337,000 506,000 - 2,843,000
   Total noncurrent liabilities 15,780 2,354,807 506,000 10,082 2,886,669
      Total liabilities 44,179 2,716,467 549,389 19,759 3,329,794

Deferred inflows of Resources:
    Deferred inflows related to pensions 705 799 - 326 1,830

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 44,884 2,717,266 549,389 20,085 3,331,624

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 7,450,867 5,087,301 578,199 1,602,634 14,719,001
Restricted:
Bond reserve - 421,118 - - 421,118
Impact fees 689,247 823,449 - 218,623 1,731,319
Unrestricted 1,411,696 1,794,131 (13,375) 457,977 3,650,429
      Total Net Position 9,551,810$ 8,125,999$ 564,824$ 2,279,234$ 20,521,867$

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds



Nibley City
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Municipal Total
Water Sewer Building Storm Water Business
Fund Fund Authority Fund Type

Operating revenues:
   Services 880,819$ 1,461,077 -$ 264,887$ 2,606,783$
   Connection fees 54,472 - - - 54,472
   Other operating revenues 29,496 2,747 50,000 10,800 93,043
         Total operating revenues 964,787 1,463,824 50,000 275,687 2,754,298

Operating expenses:
   Wages and benefits 108,595 89,840 - 90,341 288,776
   Current expenses 654,568 1,141,771 - 108,402 1,904,741
   Depreciation 254,860 358,114 49,925 67,580 730,479
      Total operating expenses 1,018,023 1,589,725 49,925 266,323 2,923,996
         Operating income (53,236) (125,901) 75 9,364 (169,698)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Impact fee income 193,793 134,755 - - 328,548

   Interest revenue 62,345 109,292 9,226 20,294 201,157
   Development fee in lieu 61,950 - - - 61,950
   Capital contributions 215,765 148,504 - 134,211 498,480
   Interest expense - - (21,346) - (21,346)
      Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 533,853 392,551 (12,120) 154,505 1,068,789
Change in net position 480,617 266,650 (12,045) 163,869 899,091
   Total Net Position - Beginning 9,071,193 7,859,349 576,869 2,115,365 19,622,776
   Total Net Position - Ending 9,551,810$ 8,125,999$ 564,824$ 2,279,234$ 20,521,867$

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds
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Municipal
Water Sewer Building Storm Water
Fund Fund Authority Fund Total

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 966,554$ 1,456,908$ 50,000$ 275,260$ 2,748,722$
Payments to suppliers (647,786) (1,175,648) - (227,189) (2,050,623)
Payments to employees (115,627) (115,618) - (105,634) (336,879)

Net cash provided (used) by
   operating activities 203,141 165,642 50,000 (57,563) 361,220

Cash Flows From Capital and Related
  Financing Activities

Purchases of capital assets (215,765) (148,504) - (82,212) (446,481)
Impact fee income 193,793 134,755 - - 328,548
Development fee in lieu 61,950 - - - 61,950
Capital contributions from others 215,765 148,504 - 134,211 498,480
Principal paid on capital debt - (260,000) (22,000) - (282,000)
Interest paid on capital debt - - (22,040) - (22,040)

Net cash provided (used) by capital
   and related financing activities 255,743 (125,245) (44,040) 51,999 138,457

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest received 62,345 109,292 9,226 20,294 201,157

Net cash provided (used) by
   investing activities 62,345 109,292 9,226 20,294 201,157

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
  cash equivalents 521,229 149,689 15,186 14,730 700,834
Cash and cash equivalents, July 1 1,460,606 3,101,952 14,828 563,616 5,141,002
Cash and cash equivalents, June 30 1,981,835$ 3,251,641$ 30,014$ 578,346$ 5,841,836$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
consists of:

Unrestricted cash 1,292,588$ 2,007,074$ 30,014$ 359,723$ 3,689,399$
Restricted cash 689,247 1,244,567 - 218,623 2,152,437

1,981,835$ 3,251,641$ 30,014$ 578,346$ 5,841,836$

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
  provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (53,236)$ (125,901)$ 75$ 9,364$ (169,698)$
Adjustments to reconcile operating
   income to net cash provided (used) by 
   operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 254,860 358,114 49,925 67,580 730,479
Noncash change in pension/benefit expense (9,568) (10,833) - (4,419) (24,820)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 1,767 (6,916) - (427) (5,576)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 6,782 (33,877) - (118,787) (145,882)
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences 2,536 (14,945) - (10,874) (23,283)

Total adjustments 256,377 291,543 49,925 (66,927) 530,918
Net cash provided (used) by
   operating activities 203,141$ 165,642$ 50,000$ (57,563)$ 361,220$

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds



 

 
19 

 

Notes to Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements are included to provide information that is essential to a 
user’s understanding of the basic financial statements. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements of Nibley City have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position of the various fund types and the 
results of their operations. The basic financial statements are presented for the year ended June 30, 
2023.

Reporting Entity

Nibley City (the City) was incorporated under the laws of the state of Utah. The City operates by 
ordinance under the Mayor-Council form of government and provides such services as are authorized by 
its charter including public safety (police and fire), highways and streets, sanitation, recreation, public 
improvements, planning and zoning, and general administration. In addition, the City owns and operates 
water and sewer utilities. 

Basis of Presentation

The government-wide financial statements report information on the financial position and all of the 
activities of the City. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of the given program 
are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific 
program. Program revenues include operating or capital grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. Fiduciary funds 
are not reported in the government-wide financial statements. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in 
the fund financial statements. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues 
are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are 
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements 
imposed by the provider have been met. The City applies expenses for restricted resources first when 
both restricted and unrestricted net position are available. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both 
measurable and available. Revenue is considered to be available if it is collected within the current 
period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, 
expenditures relating to compensated absences, and claims and judgements are recognized only when 
payment is due. 
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Property taxes, state-shared revenue, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are 
all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current 
fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is 
considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are 
considered to be available only when cash is received by the City. 

The City has presented the following major governmental funds:

General Fund – is the main operating fund of the City. This fund is used to account for all financial 
resources not accounted for in other funds. All general tax revenues and other receipts that are not 
restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund. General 
operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other 
funds are paid from the General Fund. 

Capital Projects Fund – is used to account for fund received and expended for the acquisition or 
construction of capital facilities, improvements, and equipment (other than those financed by proprietary 
funds).

The City has presented the following major governmental funds:

Water Utility – is used to account for the activities of the City’s water production, treatment, and 
distribution operations. 

Sewer Utility – is used to account for the activities of the City’s sewer treatment operations. 

Storm Water Services – is used to account for the activities of the City’s storm water runoff.

Municipal Building Authority – is used to account for the activities of some of the City’s real estate. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenue and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with the proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenue of 
our proprietary funds relates to charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for 
proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenue and expenses. 

Net Position

As prescribed by GASB Statement No. 54, governmental funds report fund balance in classifications 
based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for 
which amounts in the funds can be spent. 

Net position for governmental funds can consist of the following: 

Nonspendable – Any nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that are (a) not in spendable form, 
or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in spendable form” criterion 
includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash, for example: inventories, prepaid amounts, 
and long-term notes receivable. 

Restricted – Any restricted fund balance includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes 
stipulated by external resource providers, constitutionally or through enabling legislation. Restrictions 
may effectively be changed or lifted only with the consent of resource providers. 
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Committed – Any committed fund balance includes amounts that can only be used for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the City’s highest level of decision-making authority, the 
Nibley City Council. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the City taking the same formal 
action that imposed the constraint originally (for example: resolution or ordinance).

Assigned – Any assigned fund balance includes amounts intended to be used by the City for specific 
purposes that are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by (a) the Nibley City Council or 
(b) a body to which the governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts. Assigned 
amounts also include all residual amounts in governmental funds (except negative amounts) other than 
the General Fund that are not classified as non-spendable, restricted, or committed. 

Unassigned – The unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund. This 
designation is also used in other governmental funds to report a negative fund balance. 

In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amounts are available in multiple 
net position classifications, net position is depleted in the order of restricted, committed, assigned, and 
unassigned, as needed unless the City Council has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment 
actions. 

Property Taxes

Cache County assesses all taxable property other than centrally-assessed property, which is assessed 
through the state by May 22nd of each year. The City must adopt a final tax rate prior to June 22nd, which 
is then submitted to the State for approval. Property taxes are due on November 30th. Delinquent taxes 
are subject to a penalty of 2% or $10, whichever is greater. After January 16th of the following year, 
delinquent taxes and penalties bear interest at 6% above the federal discount rate from January 1st until 
paid. 

Property tax revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available. Amounts available 
include those property tax receivables expected to be collected within 60 days after year end. 

Short-term Interfund Receivables/Payables

During the course of operations, transactions occur which result in amounts owed to a particular fund by 
another fund, other than for goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are 
classified as interfund receivables/payables on the balance sheet. 

Internal Activity in the Government-Wide Financial Statements

Any internal activity between funds is eliminated for the presentation of the government-wide financial 
statements. 

Compensated Absences

Under terms of administrative policy, regular, full-time, and permanent employees are granted paid time 
off (PTO) or vacation and sick leave in varying amounts which may be accumulated and paid upon 
separation from City service. Vested or accumulated PTO or vacation and sick leave that is due at year-
end to terminated employees is reports as an expenditure and liability of the governmental fund that will 
pay it. Amounts of vested or accumulated PTO or vacation and sick leave that are not due and payable 
at year-end are reported only in the proprietary funds and in the government-wide financial statements. 
No liability is recorded for non-vesting rights to personal leave. 
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Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Utah Retirement Systems Pension Plan (URS) and additions to/deductions from URS’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by URS. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

Deferred Outflows/inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, financial statements will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has one of these items that qualify for reporting in 
this category. Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions – includes a) net difference between 
projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments and b) City contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date.

In addition to liabilities, the financial statements will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized as 
an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City reports two of these items. Property taxes are 
reported as deferred inflows of resources since they are recognized as receivables before the period for 
which the taxes are levied. Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions – includes a) differences 
between expected and actual experience and b) changes of assumptions in the measurement of the net 
pension liability/asset. These amounts are also reported on the government-wide statement of net 
position. 

Cash and Investments

The City considers all highly liquid investments maturing within three months of date of purchase to be 
cash equivalents. Cash balances are invested to the extent available. Investments include obligation of 
the U.S. Treasury, and repurchase agreements. Cash deemed to be in excess of immediate needs, 
other than cash and investments held for the City by trustees, is invested in the Utah State Public 
Treasurer’s Investment Fund or in approved corporate bonds. Investments are stated at cost, which 
approximates fair market value. 

Budget Amendments

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. Annual 
budgets are adopted for governmental and proprietary fund types. Encumbrance accounting is not 
employed by the City in its governmental funds, therefore all annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-
end. Project length financial plans are adopted for all capital projects. 

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at June 30, 2023, and revenues and expenses during the year then ended. The actual 
results could differ from those estimates.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the 
applicable governmental and business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 
statements and in the fund financial statements for the proprietary funds. All capital assets are valued at 
historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available. Donated assets are 
valued at their fair market value on the dated donated. Repairs and maintenance are recorded as 
expenses. Renewals and betterments are capitalized. Interest has not been capitalized during the period 
on property, plant, and equipment in the governmental funds. 

Assets, having an original cost of $5,000 or more are capitalized. Depreciation has been calculated on 
each class of depreciable property other than infrastructure using the straight-line method. Estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

                                            Buildings and improvements                25-50 Years
                                                 Improvements other than buildings      7-50 Years
                                               Machinery and equipment                    5-20 Years

                                   Infrastructure                                       15-40 Years

Transactions Between Funds

Legally authorized transfers are treated as interfund transfers and are included in the results of 
operations in the City funds.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Net Position, the term “cash and cash equivalents” includes all 
demand deposit accounts, savings accounts, or other short-term, highly-liquid investments. For the 
purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the enterprise funds consider all highly-liquid investments 
(including restricted position) with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Restricted cash and equivalents are deposits or investments that have external restrictions placed on 
them which dictate how those funds may be spent.

Note 2 – Deposits and Investments with Financial Institutions

The City follows the requirements for the Utah Money Management Act (Utah Code, Section 51, Chapter 
7) in handling its depository and temporary investment transactions. This Act requires the depositing of 
City funds in a “qualified depository.” The Act defines a “qualified depository” as any financial institution 
whose deposits are insured by an agency of the federal government, and which has been certified by the 
Utah Commissioner of Financial Institutions as meeting the requirement of the Act and adhering to the 
rules of the Utah Money Management Council. Following are discussions of the City’s exposure to 
various risks related to its cash management activities. 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not 
be recovered. The City does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk. None of the City’s 
bank deposits were uninsured or uncollateralized on June 30, 2023.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The City’s policy 
for limiting the credit risk of investments is to comply with the Money Management Act. The Act requires 
investments transactions to be conducted only through qualified depositories, certified dealers, or 
directly with issuers of the investment securities.Permitted investments include deposits of qualified 
depositories; repurchase agreements; commercial paper that is classified as “first-tier” by two nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, one of which must be Moody’s Investor Services or Standard 
& Poors; bankers acceptances; obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government sponsored 
enterprises; bonds and notes of political subdivisions of the State of Utah; fixed rate corporate 
obligations and variable rate securities rated “A” or higher by two nationally recognized statistical rating 
organizations as defined in the Act. 

The City is authorized to invest in the Utah Public Treasurer’s Investment Fund (PTIF), an external 
pooled investment fund managed by the Utah State Treasurer and subject to the Act and Council 
requirements. The PTIF is not registered with the SEC as an investment company, and deposits in the 
PTIF are not insured or otherwise guaranteed by the State of Utah. The PTIF operates and reports to 
participants on an amortized cost basis. The income, gains, and losses, net of administration fees, of the 
PTIF are allocated based on the participants’ average daily balances. The fair value of the City’s position 
in the pool is the same as the value of its pool shares. The PTIF has not been rated. 

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in 
a single issuer. The local government’s policy to limit this risk is to adhere to the rules of the Money 
Management Council. 

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the fair 
value of an instrument. The City manages its exposure to declines in fair value by investment mainly in 
the PTIF and adhering to the Money Management Act. The Act requires that the remaining term to 
maturity of investments maturity of investments may not exceed the period of availability of the funds to 
be invested. 

As of June 30, 2023 the government had the following investments and maturities: 

Investment Type                                       Fair Value                          Maturity
PTIF                                                         $15,038,930 less than 1 year

Investments are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Recurring fair value measurements are 
those the Governmental Standards Board (GASB) Statements require or permit in the statement of net 
position at the end of each reporting period. Fair value measurements are categorized based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. The City’s investments of $15,038,930 are with the Utah PTIF as aforementioned 
and are considered Level 2 inputs. 

The deposits and investments described above are included on the Statement of Net Position as per the 
following reconciliation: 
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Reconciliation to Government-wide Statement of Net Assets:
Deposits Deposits 55,620$
Investments Investments 15,038,930
Cash on hand Cash on hand 200

Total 15,094,750$
Government - Wide

Cash and Cash Equivalents Unrestricted 10,035,106$
Restricted Cash Restricted 5,059,644

Total 15,094,750$

Note 3 – Legal Compliance – Budgets

On or before the first scheduled City council meeting in May, all agencies of the City submit requests for 
appropriation to the City’s financial officer so that a budget may be prepared. The budget is prepared by 
fund, function, and activity, and includes information and the past year, current year estimates, and 
requested appropriations for the next fiscal year. 

The proposed budget is presented to the City council for review at the first scheduled meeting in May. 
The City council holds public hearings and may add to, subtract from, or change appropriations, but may 
not change the form of the budget. Any changes to the budget must me within the revenues and 
reserves estimated as available by the City financial officer or the revenue estimates must be changed 
by an affirmative vote of a majority of the City council. Within 30 days of adoption, the final budget must 
be submitted to the Utah State Auditor. If there is no increase to the certified tax rate, a final rate is 
adopted by June 22nd and adoption of budgets is done similarly. 

State statute requires that City officers shall not make or incur expenditures or encumbrances in excess 
of total appropriations for any department in the budget as adopted or subsequently amended. 
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Note 4 – Capital Assets

Capital Asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows:

June 30, 2022 Additions Retirements June 30, 2023
Governmental Assets

Assets not Depreciated
 Land 7,427,833$ -$ -$ 7,427,833$
Assets Being Depreciated
 Building & Improvements 18,353,853 716,516 - 19,070,369
 Infrastructure 5,635,512 262,914 - 5,898,426
 Machinery & Equipment 1,861,228 59,813 - 1,921,041
Total Governmental Assets 33,278,426 1,039,243 - 34,317,669

Accumulated Depreciation
 Building and Improvements (7,747,864) (599,052) - (8,346,916)
 Infrastructure (1,038,086) (160,774) - (1,198,860)
 Machinery & Equipment (1,647,826) (38,451) (1,686,277)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (10,433,776) (798,277) - (11,232,053)

Net Governmental Capital Assets 22,844,650$ 23,085,616$

Business-Type Assets
Assets not Depreciated
 Land and water rights 508,132$ - - 508,132$
 Construction in progress 81,697 - - 81,697
Assets Being Depreciated
 Buildings & improvements 24,467,769 446,480 - 24,914,249
 Machinery & Equipment 1,656,829 - - 1,656,829
Total Business-Type Assets 26,714,427 446,480 - 27,160,907

Accumulated Depreciation
 Buildings & Improvements (7,690,255) (612,252) - (8,302,507)
 Machinery & Equipment (1,096,475) (118,227) - (1,214,702)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (8,786,730) (730,479) - (9,517,209)

Net Business-Type Capital Assets 17,927,697$ 17,643,698$

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

General Government 31,931$ Water 254,860$
Public Safety 71,845 Sewer 358,114
Highways and Public Improvements 646,604 Storm drain 67,580
Parks and recreation 47,897 Municipal building 49,925

798,277 730,479

Governmental Business-type
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Note 5 – Long-term Debt

Long-term liability transactions for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, were as follows:

Balance Balance Due within
Type of Debt June 30, 2022 Additions Deductions June 30, 2023 one year
Governmental
Compensated absences 81,524$ 151$ -$ 81,675$ 28,586$

Business-Type Activities:
Compensated absences 41,309$ -$ (23,283)$ 18,026$ 9,554$

Revenue bonds
2010 MBA lease revenue 551,000$ -$ (22,000)$ 529,000$ 23,000$
2004 sewer revenue 2,857,000 - (260,000) 2,597,000 270,000

3,408,000$ -$ (282,000)$ 3,126,000$ 293,000$

Details of long-term debt for business-type activities consists of the following: 

Notes and bonds payable

2010 MBA lease revenue bonds
$850,000 bond payable, due in various annual installments, 
including interest at 4%, through October 2042. The note
is secured by land. 529,000$

2004 sewer revenue bonds
$7,739,000 bond payable, due in various annual installments
bearing no interest, through May 2034. The note is secured
by future sewer billings. 2,597,000

3,126,000$

All revenue bonds are secured and collateralized by their respective future revenue streams.

The following is a summary of the annual payments to maturity for the business-type revenue bonds:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest

2024 293,000$ 25,840$
2025 294,000 24,920
2026 295,000 23,960
2027 296,000 22,960
2028 297,000 21,920

2029-2033 1,400,000 92,480
2034-2038 186,000 59,320
2039-2043 65,000 7,280

Total 3,126,000$ 278,680$

Business-type Activities
Bonds Payable
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Note 6 – Restricted Net Position /Fund Balance Classifications
Restricted net position represents amounts required to be maintained to satisfy third party agreements or 
legal requirements. On June 30, 2023 the City’s enterprise funds held $421,118 restricted for future bond 
payments, and $1,731,319 for impact fees.

Pursuant to GASB No. 54 (see Note 1, Net Position) the governmental fund balances are classified as 
follows: 

Restricted fund balance - $2,907,207 for future roads, parks, first responders, and other projects.

Assigned fund balance - $4,820,350 for future capital projects. 

The remaining fund balance is unassigned. 

Note 7 – Pension Plans
General information about the Pension Plan

Plan Description: Eligible plan participants are provided with pensions through the Utah Retirement 
Systems. Utah Retirement Systems are comprised of the following Pension Trust Funds:

Defined Benefit Plans

The Public Employees Noncontributory Retirement System (Noncontributory System) is a multiple 
employer, cost sharing, public employee retirement system.

The Tier 2 Public Employees Contributory Retirement System (Tier 2 Public Employees System) is 
a multiple employer, cost sharing, public retirement systems. 

The Tier 2 Public Employees System became effective July 1, 2011. All eligible employees beginning on 
or after July 1, 2011, who have not previous credit with any of the Utah Retirement Systems, are 
members of the Tier 2 Retirement System. 

The Utah Retirement Systems (Systems) are established and governed by the respective sections of Title 
49 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. The Systems’ defined benefit plans are amended 
statutorily by the State Legislature. The Utah State Retirement Office Act in Title 49 provides for the 
administration of the Systems under the direction of the Utah State Retirement Board, whose members 
are appointed by the Governor. The Systems are fiduciary funds defined as pension (and other employee 
benefit) trust funds. URS is a component unit of the State of Utah. Title 49 of the Utah Code Grants the 
authority to establish and amend the benefit terms. 

URS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained in writing Utah Retirement Systems, 
560 E. 200 S, Salt Lake City, Utah 84102 or visiting the website: www.urs.org/general/publications.
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Summary of Benefits by System

Benefits provided: URS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. 

Retirement benefits are as follows:

Summary of Benefits by System

Retirement benefits are as follows:

Years of service required and/or Benefit percent per year
System Final Average Salary age eligible for benefit of service COLA**

Noncontributory System Highest 3 years 30 years any age 2.0% per year all years Up to 4%
25 years any age*
20 years age 60*
10 years age 62*
4 years age 65

Tier 2 Public Employees System Highest 5 years 35 years any age 1.5% per year all years Up to 2.5%  
20 years any age 60*

10 years age 62*
4 years age 65

* Actuarial reductions are applied.
** All post-retirement cost-of-living adjustments are non-compounding and are based on the original benefit except for Judges, which is a compounding 
benefit. The cost-of-living adjustments are also limited to the actual Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase for the year, although unused CPI increases
not met may be carried forward to subsequent years.

Contribution Rate Summary

As a condition of participation in the Systems, employers and/or employees are required to contribute 
certain percentages of salary and wages as authorized by state statute and specified by the Utah State 
Retirement Board. Contributions are actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with 
employee contributions (where applicable) is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 
Contribution rates as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Employer
Employee Employer 401(k) Plan

Contributory System
111-Local Government Division Tier 2 - 16.01% 0.18%

Noncontributory System
15-Local Government Division Tier 1 - 17.97% -

Tier 2 DC Only
211-Local Government - 6.19% 10.00%

***Tier 2 rates include a statutory required contribution to finance the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability of the Tier 1 plans.

For fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the employer and employee contributions to the Systems were as 
follows:

Employer Employee
System Contributions Contributions

Noncontributory System 93,772$ -
Tier 2 Public Employees System 65,747 -
Tier 2 DC Only System 20,381 -
      Total Contributions 179,900$ -$

Contributions reported are the URS Board-approved required contributions by System. Contributions in
the Tier 2 Systems are used to finance the unfunded liabilities in the Tier 1 Systems.
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Contributions reported are the URS board approved required contributions by System. Contributions in 
the Tier 2 Systems are used to finance the unfunded liabilities in the Tier 1 Systems.

Combined Pension Assets, Liabilities, Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
Relating to Pensions

At June 30, 2023, we reported a net pension asset of $0 and net pension liability of $126,562.

Net Pension Net Pension Proportionate Proportionate Share Change
Asset Liability Share December 31, 2019 (Decrease)

Noncontributory System -$ 104,100$ 0.0607796% 0.0576866% 0.0030930%
Tier 2 Public Employees System - 22,462 0.0206280% 0.0239637% -0.0033357%
Total Net Pension Asset / Liability -$ 126,562$

(Measurement Date): December 31, 2022

The net pension asset and liability was measured as of December 31, 2022, and the total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension asset and liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
January 1, 2022 and rolled-forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The proportion of the 
net pension asset and liability is equal to the ratio of the employer’s actual contributions to the Systems 
during the plan year over the total of all employer contributions to the System during the plan year. 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, we recognized pension expense of $85,311.

At June 30, 2023 we reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relating to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 42,896$ 891$
Changes in assumptions 24,353 473
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 77,722 -
Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 6,896 5,221
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 90,086 -

Total 241,953$ 6,585$

$90,086 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions made 
by us prior to our fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 2022.
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming fiscal 
year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Deferred Outflows
Year Ended December 31, (inflows) of Resources

2023 (16,489)$
2024 6,553$
2025 31,977$
2026 113,698$
2027 1,985$

Thereafter 7,559$
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Noncontributory System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

For the year ended June 30, 2023, we recognized pension expense of 42,168.

At June 30, 2023, we reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relating 
to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 35,309$ -$
Changes in assumptions 17,061 416
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 68,666 -
Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 2,191 3,887
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 48,690 -

Total 171,917$ 4,303$

$48,690 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions made 
by us prior to our fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 2022.

These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming fiscal 
year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions, will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Deferred Outflows
Year Ended December 31, (inflows) of Resources

2023 (17,860)$
2024 3,755$
2025 27,580$
2026 105,450$
2027 -$

Thereafter -$

Tier 2 Public Employees System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of 
Resources

For the year ended June 30, 2023, we recognized pension expense of $43,143.

At June 30, 2023, we reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relating 
to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 7,587$ 891$
Changes in assumptions 7,292 57
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments 9,056 -
Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 4,706 1,334
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 41,396 -

Total 70,037$ 2,282$
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$41,396 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions made 
by us prior to our fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 2022.

These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming fiscal 
year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions, will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Deferred Outflows
Year Ended December 31, (inflows) of Resources

2023 1,371$
2024 2,798$
2025 4,397$
2026 8,248$
2027 1,985$

Thereafter 7,559$
Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 2.50 Percent
Salary Increases 3.25-9.75 percent, average, including inflation
Investment rate of return 6.85 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including 

inflation

Mortality rates were adopted from an actuarial experience study dated January 1, 2020. The retired 
mortality tables are developed using URS retiree experience and are based upon gender, occupation, 
and age as appropriate with projected improvement using 80% of the ultimate rates from the MP-219 
improvement assumption using a base year of 2020. The mortality assumption for active members is the 
PUB-2010 Employees Mortality Table for public employees, teachers, and public safety members, 
respectively. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2022, valuation were based on an experience study of 
the demographic assumptions as of January 1, 2020, and a review of the economic assumptions as of 
January 1, 2021.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investments expense and inflation) are to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each 
major asset class are summarized in the following table. 
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Real Return Long-Term expected
Target Asset Arithmetic portfolio real

Asset Class Allocation Basis rate of return
Equity securities 35% 6.58% 2.30%
Debt securities 20% 1.08% 0.22%
Real assets 18% 5.72% 1.03%
Private equity 12% 9.80% 1.18%
Absolute return 15% 2.91% 0.44%
Cash and cash equivalents 0% 0.11% 0.00%

Totals 100% 5.17%
Inflation 2.50%
Expected arithmetic nominal return 7.67%

Expected Return Arithmetic Basis

The 6.85% assumed investment rate of return is comprised of an inflation rate of 2.50%, and a real return 
of 4.35% that is net of investment expense. 

Discount rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.85 percent. The 
projection of cash flow used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be 
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from all participating employers will be made 
at contractually required rates that are actuarially determined and certified by the URS Board. Based on 
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments, to determine the total pension liability. The discount rate does not use the Municipal Bond 
Index Rate. 

Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the net pension asset and liability to changes in the discount rate: 
The following presents the proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount 
rate of 6.85 percent, as well as what the proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if 
it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.85 percent) or 1-percentage-
point higher (7.85 percent) than the current rate:

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase

System 5.85% 6.85% 7.85%
Noncontributory System 656,074$ 104,100$ (357,103)$
Tier 2 Public Employees System 98,145 22,462 (35,843)
    Total 754,219$ 126,562$ (392,946)$

*** Pension plan fiduciary net position: Detailed information about the pension plans fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued URS financial report.

Defined Contribution Savings Plans

The Defined Contribution Savings Plans are administered by the Utah Retirement Systems Board and are 
generally supplemental plans to the basic retirement benefits of the Retirement Systems, but may also be 
used as a primary retirement plan. These plans are voluntary tax-advantaged retirement savings 
programs authorized under sections 401(k), 457(b), and 408 of the Internal Revenue Code. Detailed 
information regarding plan provisions is available in the separately issued URS financial report. 

Nibley City participates in the following Defined Contribution Savings Plans with Utah Retirement 
Systems:

*401(k) Plan
*457(b) Plan
*Roth IRA Plan
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Employee and employer contributions to the Utah Retirement Defined Contributions Savings Plan for 
fiscal year ended June 30, were as follows

2023 2022 2021
401(k) Plan

Employer Contributions 157,979$ 131,731$ 92,593$
Employee Contributions -$ -$ -$

457 Plan
Employer Contributions -$ -$ -$
Employee Contributions 7,575$ -$ -$

Roth IRA Plan
Employer Contributions N/A N/A N/A
Employee Contributions 76,514$ 61,278$ 49,676$

Note 8 – Risk Management
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The City participates in the Utah Local Government 
Insurance Trust (the Trust), a public entity risk pool to manage its risk of loss. The City pays an annual 
premium to the trust for its general insurance coverage. The trust was created to be self-sustaining 
through member premiums and will reinsure through commercial companies for claims in excess of one
million dollars for each insured event. There have been no claim settlements that exceeded the City’s 
coverage for the past three years. 

Note 9 – Rounding Convention
A rounding convention to the nearest whole dollar has been applied throughout this report, therefore the 
precision displayed in any monetary amount is plus or minus $1. 

Note 10 – Subsequent Events 
The City has evaluated events and transactions subsequent to the date of the audit report, which is the 
date the financial statements were available for issuance. No reportable events or transactions were 
noted.
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Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are 
required by GASB, but are not considered a part of the basic financial statement. Such 
information includes:

- Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund

- Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

- Schedule of Contributions – Pensions

- Notes to Required Supplementary Information
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Variance
with Final

Actual Budget
Original Final Amounts Over(Under)

REVENUES
Taxes

Sales taxes 1,000,000$ 1,000,000$ 1,387,313$ 387,313$
Property taxes 840,000 840,000 982,918 142,918
Franchise taxes 325,000 325,000 452,736 127,736
Mass transit taxes 90,000.00 100,000 294,779 194,779

Licenses and permits 273,000 273,000 179,923 (93,077)
Intergovernmental revenue 693,750 693,750 792,133 98,383
Charges for services 1,588,000 1,588,000 1,585,983 (2,017)
Fines and forfeitures 414,000 414,000 549,578 135,578
Interest income 43,000 43,000 203,508 160,508
Miscellaneous 131,900 131,900 180,768 48,868

   Total revenues 5,398,650 5,408,650 6,609,639 1,200,989

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Culture, parks, and recreation 477,500 477,500 441,935 (35,565)
Highways and streets 346,500 346,500 293,107 (53,393)
Administration 677,200 677,200 598,213 (78,987)
Sanitation 612,000 612,000 603,743 (8,257)
Public works 478,000 478,000 403,110 (74,890)
Public safety 336,700 336,700 332,807 (3,893)
Non-departmental 691,500 691,500 260,636 (430,864)
Planning and zoning 425,000 425,000 332,013 (92,987)
Legislative 56,500 56,500 50,977 (5,523)
Community development 402,750 402,750 404,796 2,046
Capital outlay 1,510,000 1,510,000 278,834 (1,231,166)
   Total expenditures 6,013,650 6,013,650 4,000,171 (2,013,479)

Excess revenues over (under)
expenditures (615,000) (605,000) 2,609,468 3,214,468

Other financing sources (uses)
Beginning fund balance 1,876,000 1,876,000 - -
Transfers in - - - -
Transfers out (1,130,000.00) (1,130,000) (1,330,000) 200,000.00
Contributions to other government units (90,000.00) (90,000) (155,484) 65,484.00

Total other financing sources and uses 656,000 656,000 (1,485,484) 200,000.00
   Excess of revenues and other sources 
     over (under) expenditures and other uses 41,000$ 51,000$ 1,123,984 1,174,984$

Fund balances - beginning of year 3,261,523
Fund balances - end of year 4,385,507$

Budgeted Amounts
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Changes in Assumptions Related to Pensions

No changes were made in actuarial assumptions from the prior year’s valuation.

Budgetary Comparison Schedules

The budgetary comparison schedule presented in this section of the report is for the City’s General Fund. 

Budgeting and Budgetary Control

Budgets for the General Fund are legally required and are prepared and adopted on the modified accrual 
basis of accounting. 

Original budgets represent the revenue estimates and spending authority authorized by the City
Commission prior to the beginning of the year. Final budgets represent the original budget amounts plus 
any amendments made to the budget during the year by the Council through formal resolution. Final 
budgets do not include unexpended balances from the prior year because such balances automatically 
lapse to unreserved fund balance at the end of each year. 

Current Year Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations

For the year ended June 30, 2023 all departments and funds were within budgeted appropriations.
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Additional Reports

Additional Auditor’s Reports

- Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

- Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance and Report on Internal Control Over 
Compliance as Required by the State Compliance Audit Guide.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members
Nibley City, Utah

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Nibley City, Utah (the “City”), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Nibley City’s 
basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 6, 2023.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Nibley City’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for 
the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of Nibley City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of Nibley City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Nibley City’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
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Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Larson & Company

Spanish Fork, Utah
December 6, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND 
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE

AS REQUIRED BY THE STATE COMPLIANCE AUDIT GUIDE

Honorable Mayor and 
City Council Members
Nibley City, Utah

Report on Compliance with General State Compliance Requirements

We have audited Nibley City’s compliance with applicable general state compliance requirements described in the 
State Compliance Audit Guide, issued by the Office of the Utah State Auditor that could have a direct and material 
effect on the City for the year ended June 30, 2023

State compliance requirements were tested for the year ended June 30, 2023 in the following areas:

Budgetary Compliance Restricted Taxes and Related Revenues
Fund Balance Fraud Risk Assessment   
Governmental Fees

Opinion on Compliance

In our opinion, Nibley City complied, in all material respects, with the state compliance requirements referred to above 
for the year ended June 30, 2023

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State Compliance Audit Guide (Guide). Our responsibilities 
under those standards and the State Compliance Audit guide are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Nibley City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Nibley City’s 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, 
regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Nibley City’s government programs.
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on Nibley City’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Guide will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user of the report on compliance about Nibley City’s compliance with the requirements of the 
government program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Guide, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding Nibley City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

Obtain an understanding of Nibley City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the State Compliance Audit Guide but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Nibley City’s internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Our Consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, as 
defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
may exist that were not identified.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or to detect and correct, noncompliance with a state compliance requirement on a 
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a state compliance requirement will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a state compliance requirement that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance. 
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Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Guide. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Larson & Company, PC

Spanish Fork, Utah
December 6, 2023
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Agenda Item #8 

  

Description Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-06—
Authorizing the Mayor of Nibley City or Designee to 
Vote on Behalf of Nibley City’s Interests regarding 
canal company water shares (First Reading) 
 

Presenter Justin Maughan, City Manager 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

N/A 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Approval of Resolution 24-06— Authorizing the 
Mayor of Nibley City or Designee to Vote on Behalf of 
Nibley City’s Interests regarding canal company 
water shares and waive the second reading. 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager 

 

Background 

Nibley City owns shares in several private canal Companies throughout the City and 

surrounding area.  Each company is an independent entity with a board of directors and 

by-laws governing the company. Generally, yearly, each company will have a 

shareholder meeting where matters are discussed and voted on by the shareholders.  

Mayor and staff would like the Council to pass a resolution, assuring that the Mayor, or 

someone they designate, has the authority to represent Nibley City interests, and vote 

the shares on behalf of Nibley City.  

 

  



	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

This	Page	Intentionally	Left	Blank	



RESOLUTION 24-06 

  

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF NIBLEY CITY OR DESIGNEE TO VOTE ON BEHALF OF 

NIBLEY CITY’S INTERESTS REGARDING CANAL COMPANY WATERSHARES 

  

  

WHEREAS, Nibley City owns shares in several private canal companies throughout the area; and  

 

WHEREAS, each private canal company is governed by a board of directors and by-laws; and 

 

WHEREAS, annually, each private canal company holds a shareholder meeting to discuss business matters and 

vote; and 

   

WHEREAS, Nibley City wishes to authorize the Mayor, or their designee, to represent Nibley City interests and 

vote the shares on behalf of the city.  

   

   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL OF NIBLEY, UTAH THAT: 

 

1. The Mayor of Nibley City, or their designee, shall have the authority to vote on the shares held by Nibley 

City. 

  

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS ______ DAY OF ____________, 2024. 
 

  

  

___________________________________  

                                                        Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

  

 

ATTEST:  

  

________________________________  

Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder  
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Agenda Item #9 

 

Description Discussion & Consideration: Ordinance 24-03: 
Development Agreement with R & W ENTERPRISES 
INC, together with PROJECT VALOR to Allow 
Construction of One (1) Casita on Parcel 03-7020-
0018, lLocated at 110 W 2600 S, to House 
Transitioning and/or Homeless Veterans Within a 
Legally Non-conforming Mobile Home Park, Setting 
Forth Conditions and Standards for Its Construction 
(Second Reading) 

Presenter Levi Roberts, City Planner 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

Approval of Ordinance 24-03: Development 
Agreement with R & W ENTERPRISES INC, together 
with PROJECT VALOR to allow construction of one 
(1) casita on Parcel 03-7020-0018, located at 110 W 
2600 S, to house transitioning and/or homeless 
veterans within a legally non-conforming mobile 
home park, setting forth conditions and standards for 
its construction, adopting Staff’s recommended 
findings with the condition that the property owner 
recieves no net profit from the lease of land for the 
Casita. 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Approval of Ordinance 24-03: Development 
Agreement with R & W ENTERPRISES INC, together 
with PROJECT VALOR to Allow Construction of One 
(1) Casita on Parcel 03-7020-0018, lLocated at 110 
W 2600 S, to House Transitioning and/or Homeless 
Veterans Within a Legally Non-conforming Mobile 
Home Park, Setting Forth Conditions and Standards 
for Its Construction, and adopting Staff’s 
recommended findings 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager, City Planner, City Engineer 

 

No additional background since last meeting 

 

Back ground from 2-22-24. Michael Fortune, representative of Project Valor, has 

proposed to use a vacant storage lot located within the Nibley Mobile Home Park for the 

purpose of placing a Boxabl Casita (see sample photo below) that would be used to 

house transitioning and/or homeless veterans (one at a time). 

 



 

 

 
  

The applicant has proposed a development agreement which allows for the construction 

of the Casita, while providing certain terms and conditions for its construction.  

  

The applicant provides the following additional justification for this application: 

  

There are so many resources available for veterans, except what they need the most, a 

place to stay, housing, a home.  We have been working on "Project Valor" for over a 

year and we have developed a program that we will take across the state of Utah. We 

choose to start our pilot program here in Cache Valley and our goal is to establish 25 to 

35 of these homes throughout the state of Utah and end veteran homelessness by 

December 25, 2024 in Utah.  We have the support of the property owner who has a 

strong desire to support our veterans.  Additionally, we have local businesses and 

individuals that will assist us to clean up, improve/upgrade and landscape the lot, which 

will have a positive impact for the City of Nibley (not just by how it looks, but because of 

how it is used). 

  

NCC 19.26.040 states the following: 

  

No extension or addition shall be made to any structure containing a nonconforming 

use. However, a nonconforming use may be extended to include the entire floor area of 

the existing building in which it was conducted at the time the use became 

nonconforming. Additions or extensions may be made to a residential building which is 

nonconforming as to height, area or yard regulations, provided said addition conforms to 

all the requirements for the district in which it is located and does not increase the 

number of dwelling units or occupancy of the building. No nonconforming use of land 

shall be expanded or extended or increased in intensity of use, or accessory buildings 

constructed. 

  



 

 

Because the construction of the casita would increase the number of dwelling units to a 

nonconforming use (mobile home park), The development agreement is necessary to 

allow its construction. UCA 10-9a- 532(2)(a)(iii) states: 

  

A development agreement may not allow a use or development of land that applicable 

land use regulations governing the area subject to the development agreement would 

otherwise prohibit, unless the legislative body approves the development agreement in 

accordance with the same procedures for enacting a land use regulation under Section 

10-9a-502, including a review and recommendation from the planning commission and a 

public hearing. 

  

The proposed agreement includes the following summarized terms & conditions: 

  

• Allows for 1 modular ‘casita’ unit that is no more than 722 sq ft to be built in a  

designated storage area within the mobile home park property, according to the 

proposed site plan. 

• The casita must be used for housing of a United States military veteran. 

• The casita must be setback 10’ from the property line and 18’ from other housing 

units. The 10’ setback from the side and rear property line is in line with ADU 

setback standards. 

• The casita must meet all building and fire codes and will require a building 

permit, the submission of which must occur within 1 year. 

  

General Plan Guidance 

  

Although allowing for the construction of the Casita, as described above, would be in 

violation of Nibley City Code provisions related to non-conforming uses, there are 

benefits to allowing its construction, in support of the goals of the general plan. 

Specifically, Residential Development and Housing Goal 3 states:  

  

Continue to meet State and Federal Moderate Income Housing requirements, which will 

allow Nibley to provide suitable housing choices for a variety of individuals. 

  

In addition, Strategy 7 of the Moderate-Income Housing Plan, an appendix to the 

General Plan is: 

Apply for or partner with an entity that applies for state or federal funds or tax incentives 

to promote the construction of moderate income housing, an entity that applies for 

programs offered by the Utah Housing Corporation within that agency's funding 

capacity, an entity that applies for affordable housing programs administered by the 

Department of Workforce Services, an entity that applies for affordable housing 

programs administered by an association of governments established by an interlocal 

agreement under Title 11, Chapter 13, Interlocal Cooperation Act, an entity that applies 

for services provided by a public housing authority to preserve and create moderate 



 

 

income housing, or any other entity that applies for programs or services that promote 

the construction or preservation of moderate income housing 

  

Allowing for the casita, dedicated to homeless or transitioning veterans would be in 

support of each goal and strategy by partnering with Project Valor, an entity that is 

focused on ending homelessness of Utah veterans and providing a suitable housing 

choice for such individuals. 

 

Other Issues 

 

The Public Works Department and City Manager has reviewed this request and has 

determined that the water usage is unusually high for the mobile home park, indicating 

that repairs are needed for this system (although it is currently unclear which specific 

repairs are needed). To address this issue, Staff is recommending that the applicant 

provides a plan for improving the private water system prior to issuance of certificate of 

occupancy for the Casita. 

 

In addition to this, Planning Commission has made the recommendation that the 

property owner does not profit from the lease of this space for the Casita. They may 

charge for maintenance, utilities and related expenses, but no net profit would be 

allowed.  

 

Both of these provisions are incorporated into the draft development agreement. 

  

Recommended Findings 

  

• In accordance with UCA 10-9a-- 532(2)(a)(iii), a development agreement may 

include provisions which are in conflict with adopted ordinances, provided that 

the agreement is adopted with the same process as changing the ordinance. 

• Allowing for the Casita, as presented, is in support of Nibley City General Plan 

Residential Development and Housing Goal 3 and Moderate-Income Housing 

Plan Strategy 7. 

• The Casita is expected to have minimal impact on surrounding properties and be 

compatible with surrounding land uses. 

• The setback and size limitations of the proposed casita are within constraints of 

Nibley City’s standards for accessory dwelling units. 

   



 

ORDINANCE 24-03 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH R & W ENTERPRISES INC, TOGETHER WITH PROJECT 

VALOR TO ALLOW CONSTRUCTION OF ONE (1) CASITA ON PARCEL 03-020-0018, LOCATED 

AT 110 W 2600 S, TO HOUSE TRANSITIONING AND/OR HOMELESS VETERANS WITHIN A 

LEGALLY NON-CONFORMING MOBILE HOME PARK, SETTING FORTH CONDITIONS AND 

STANDARDS FOR ITS CONSTRUCTION 

 

WHEREAS, UCA 10-9-532(2)(a)(iii) provides that the City may enter into a development agreement which 

includes provisions which the City Code would otherwise prohibit provided that the agreement is approved in 

accordance with the same procedures for enacting a land use regulation under UCA 10-9a-502 ; and  

  

WHEREAS, Allowing for the Casita, as presented, is in support of Nibley City General Plan Residential 

Development and Housing Goal 3 and Moderate-Income Housing Plan Strategy 7.  

WHEREAS, The Casita is expected to have minimal impact on surrounding properties and be compatible with 

surrounding land uses. 

WHEREAS, The setback and size limitations of the proposed casita are within constraints of Nibley City’s 

standards for accessory dwelling units. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF NIBLEY, UTAH THAT: 

1. The attached NIBLEY CITY DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT be approved. 

2. The Agreement shall not take place until the Developer and City have signed the attached Agreement. 

3. All ordinances, resolutions and polices of the City, or parts thereof, inconsistent herewith, are hereby 

repealed, but only to the extent of such inconsistency. This repealer shall not be construed as reviving and 

law, order, resolution or ordinance or part thereof. 

 

PASSED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS _____ DAY OF _________________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder 
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NIBLEY CITY DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by NIBLEY CITY (“City”) and R 
& W ENTERPRISES INC, a Utah corporation, together with PROJECT VALOR, a STATE 
501(c)(3) non-profit organization (collectively, “Developer”), and is effective as of the date that 
it is executed by all parties, as shown by the signatures contained herein. 

RECITALS 

A. Developer owns or otherwise has the right to develop certain property located within the
City and seeks to develop the same (“Development”), containing approximately 5.36
acres, which property is more particularly described as:

Parcel 03-7020-0018 

BEG IN S LN OF 2600 S ST AT PT E 382.59 FT OF PT BR S 33 FT & E 1320 
FT FROM NW COR NE/4 SEC 21 T 11N R 1E & TH S 2*10'31" E 489.62 FT TH 
N89*50'47" E 494.03 FT TH N 2*30'24"W 488.41 FT TO S LN OF SD ST TH W 
491.25 FT ALG SD ST TO BEG 

LESS 0.17 AC TO NIBLEY CITY FOR ROAD IN BK 980 PG 194 

B. The Development is zoned under applicable City land use regulations as R-2 (“Zoning”)
and currently has been developed as a legal non-conforming mobile home park.

C. Developer desires to construct and/or install a single “Boxabl Casita” or similar pre-
constructed dwelling unit structure (“Casita”) on a vacant storage area on the southeast
corner of the Development, in order to house transitioning and/or homeless veterans.

D. Developer has prepared preliminary and conceptual plans and documents for the
Development, which plans show the proposed uses and other improvements for the
Development (“Development Plans”), which Development Plans are attached and
incorporated herein as Exhibit A.

E. City has, determined that the approval of this Agreement with Developer, and the
establishment thereby of specific requirements, elements, and aspects of the Development,
some or all of which are not currently allowed under the Zoning, will result in benefits to
the City and its residents that are not provided by the Zoning.

F. The Parties therefore desire to enter into this Agreement in order to provide specific
requirements, elements, conditions, and standards that will govern the Development.

TERMS 

1. Compliance with Regulations.

a. The Development remains subject to all terms, conditions, and requirements of the
Zoning and all other applicable federal, state, county, and City laws, ordinances,
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codes, standards, and land use regulations applicable to the Development and to 
any building, improvement, landscaping, excavation, or other work required or 
related to the Development, including but not limited to payment of fees and 
compliance with design, construction, and building and fire code standards. This 
Agreement does not grant any land use approval or land use permit, and Developer 
agrees to apply for all such required approvals and permits prior to commencing 
any work or construction. 

b. To the extent that the terms, conditions, and requirements of this Agreement and 
the Development Plans expressly modify or are in direct conflict with the Zoning 
or another City-adopted ordinance, standard, or land use regulation applicable to 
the Development, this Agreement shall control and take precedence, but only to the 
extent of the express modification or direct conflict. 

c. Nothing herein alters the non-conforming status of the Development. Any 
restoration, reconstruction, redevelopment, or other change in use of any part of the 
Development, including the Casita, must comply with the Zoning and Nibley City 
Code (“NCC”) 19.26.  

2. Construction of Casita. Developer shall be entitled to construct, install, place, locate, and 
maintain the Casita in a manner substantially similar to and in substantial compliance with 
the Development Plans, attached hereto, and the terms, conditions, and requirements set 
forth below. The express terms of this Agreement shall control and take precedence in the 
event of a conflict between the Development Plans and this Agreement. 

a. Units. No more than one (1) Casita may be installed pursuant to this Agreement. 
No other dwelling units are permitted to be constructed within the Development 
pursuant to this Agreement. Any other or additional dwelling units proposed to be 
constructed shall comply with the Zoning and Nibley City Code (“NCC”) 19.26. 

b. Veteran Housing. The Casita shall be occupied by no more than one family, as 
defined by NCC. At least one person within such family must be a United States 
military veteran. Developer shall be responsible for verifying veteran status and 
shall confirm and document veteran status to City upon City’s reasonable request. 

c. Setbacks and Regulations: The Casita shall be setback at least ten feet (10’) from 
property lines and public or private streets (top back of curb), and setback at least 
eighteen feet (18’) from all other homes, buildings, and structures. The Casita 
shall be limited to the following dimensions: 19 feet in width X 38 feet in length 
and shall be compliant with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) guidelines. 
The Casita shall have a maximum building footprint of 722 square feet and 
maximum height of 12 feet above finished grade. The Casita shall be provided 
with at least one (1) off-street parking space. 

d. Permits: The Casita shall require a building permit and certificate of occupancy 
prior to construction and occupancy, respectively, of the Casita. 
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e.  Water Efficiency Improvement Plan: The Developer shall be required to submit a 
plan to significantly reduce or eliminate loss of water for the private water lines 
which service the mobile home park prior to certificate of occupancy of the Casita. 
The Plan shall detail specific capital improvements to be made to the system, 
including a time frame for installation. 

f. Profitability: The property owner of the parcel shall not receive any profit from the 
rental of the space for the Casita. Utilities and maintenance fees associated with the 
use may be assessed, but no net monetary profit may be obtained from the rental of 
land for the Casita. 

g. Design Elements: Developer agrees to construct and develop the Casita and related 
improvements according to the design elements and specifications as set forth in 
the Development Plans and this Agreement. Developer acknowledges that City is 
not authorized, under state law, to regulate design elements of one to two family 
dwellings without the request and agreement of Developer. Developer hereby 
requests and agrees to the imposition of such design elements in recognition of and 
in exchange for the benefits granted to Developer herein.  

3. Reserved Legislative Powers. The execution of this Agreement and the establishment of 
the vested rights shall not prevent the City, pursuant to the exercise of its legislative 
authority and power, to amend, enact, or repeal any provision of the Zoning or any other 
ordinance, specification, standard, or code, provided that no such legislative action shall 
reduce or eliminate the Developer’s vested rights under this Agreement unless facts and 
circumstances are present and specifically found by the governing body of the City that 
meet the compelling, countervailing public interest exception to the vested rights doctrine 
under Utah law. Any such proposed legislative action affecting the vested rights shall be 
of general application to all development activity in the City. 

4. Recordation. This Agreement, including the Development Plans, shall be recorded against 
title to all real property that is included the Development prior to any further land use 
application, permit, or approval being sought for the Development. Developer shall ensure 
that there are no holders of interest that are superior in title to this Agreement, and that all 
interests, including but not limited to liens, mortgages, deeds of trust, and other similar 
instruments, have been made subordinate to this Agreement. Developer shall provide such 
documentation as is necessary to establish the fact of the recordation and of the priority of 
this Agreement prior to receiving any further approval related to the Development. 

5. Assignment; Successors Bound.  This Agreement may be assigned and transferred by 
Developer. This Agreement shall run with the land and be binding on and inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of Developer, such that any person who obtains any 
right, title, or interest to any portion of the Development shall be bound by the rights and 
obligations of this Agreement and shall be responsible for performance of Developer’s 
obligations related to such portion in the same manner as Developer. All assignees, 
transferees, and successors in interest shall be bound by all terms of this Agreement 
applicable to Developer as though such party were named herein as Developer. 
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6. Modifications to Development. 

a. Developer shall develop, construct, improve, and maintain the Casita in a manner 
substantially similar to and in substantial compliance with the Development Plans 
and this Agreement, provided that Developer may adjust the final placement or 
location of the Casita and other improvements within and upon the Development 
as necessary and as approved by the City through the City building permit review 
and approval processes, so long as such adjustments do not materially change the 
overall design and intent of the Development and comply with this Agreement. 

b. In the event of a dispute between Developer and the City as to whether a change is 
“material,” no change, modification, or adjustment shall be made without express, 
written City approval of such change, modification, or adjustment. 

7. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Agreement’s effective date 
and shall continue until it is terminated, rendering the Development subject to the general 
zoning regulations applicable to the affected property, as set forth herein: 

a. The Agreement may be terminated due to the uncured breach or default of one of 
the parties hereto, subject to the provisions set forth in Section 15. 

b. The Agreement may be terminated by the mutual agreement of the parties. 

c. The Agreement may be terminated by the City if Developer fails to submit a 
building permit for the Casita within twelve (12) months after the effective date of 
this Agreement, or fails to obtain a certificate of occupancy for the Casita within 
twenty-four (24) months after the effective date of this Agreement.  

d. Developer may apply for an extension of the deadlines set forth in this Section from 
the governing body of the City, who may grant an extension, with such terms and 
conditions as the body finds expedient, upon a finding of good cause for the delay 
or extension. 

8. Default.  

a. In the event of a breach or default of any term of this Agreement, the non-breaching 
party shall provide written notice to the breaching party. Such notice shall describe 
the alleged breach, the applicable provisions of this Agreement, and the actions 
necessary to remedy and cure the breach.  

b. Within 30 days after the date of such notice, the breaching party shall either: 

i. cure the breach and notify the non-breaching party, in writing, of the actions 
taken to cure the breach; or 

ii. notify the non-breaching party, in writing, why the breach cannot be cured 
within 30 days and establishing a reasonable time to cure such breach, with 
a description of the actions to be taken by the breaching party. 
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c. In the event the breaching party does not cure the breach or default within the 
specified timeframes, the non-breaching party may declare this Agreement to be 
terminated and send written notice of such declaration to the breaching party. 

9. Severability. Each provision of this Agreement shall be separate, several, and distinct from 
each other provision hereof, and the invalidity, unenforceability, or illegality of any such 
provisions shall not affect the enforceability of any other provision hereof. 

10. No Waiver. Failure of a party to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed a waiver 
of any such right and shall not affect the right of such party to exercise, at some future time, 
said right or any other right it may have hereunder, provided that this provision shall not 
operate to excuse Developer’s non-compliance with the deadlines set forth in Section 14. 
No modification, waiver, or amendment to any right, term, condition, obligation, or 
provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless adopted through the process set forth in 
Section 13. 

11. Entire Agreement.  

a. This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the 
Development and the special rights and obligations granted to and assumed by 
Developer related to the Development.  

b. This Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements, conversations, 
understandings, contracts, and representations related to the Development or any 
term or provision of this Agreement. Neither party shall rely on or attempt to 
enforce any statement or representation, not contained herein, made by any person 
regarding the Development or Developer’s rights and obligations thereto. 

12. Enforcement and Governing Law. This Agreement may be enforced by any means 
available to the parties, subject to the notice and default provisions set forth in Section 15. 
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Utah, and any court 
proceedings shall be brought in the First Judicial District Court of the State of Utah. Prior 
to initiating any such litigation, the parties shall first attempt to mediate or seek an advisory 
opinion regarding any dispute related to this Agreement through the Utah Property Rights 
Ombudsman’s office or another qualified mediator that both parties agree upon. A party 
that prevails in any litigation following such mediation or opinion regarding this 
Agreement shall be entitled to recover their reasonable court costs and attorney fees related 
to the litigation.  

13. Third Parties. This Agreement is intended for the sole benefit of the named parties thereto. 
No third party, except for permitted assignees, transferees, and successors-in-interest, shall 
have any right to enforce any of the terms or obligations herein contained. 

14. Representations. The persons signing this Agreement on behalf of the parties represent 
and warrant that they have the authority and authorization to execute the Agreement on 
behalf of the respective party such that the party will be bound by all rights, obligations, 
terms, and conditions herein, and that all steps, requirements, and processes necessary for 
a party to approve and execute the Agreement have each been completed. 
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For Nibley City: Attested by: 
By:   

  Mayor  City Recorder 

Date: 

For Developer: R & W ENTERPRISES INC 

By:   Date: 

Name:   Title: 

STATE OF UTAH )
: ss 

County of  ) 

On the ____ day of ________________, 20____, personally appeared before me, 
_____________________________, the       of Developer, the 
signer of the foregoing instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that they executed the same. 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

For Developer: PROJECT VALOR 

By:   Date: 

Name:   Title: 

STATE OF UTAH )
: ss 

County of  ) 

On the ____ day of ________________, 20____, personally appeared before me, 
_____________________________, the       of Developer, the 
signer of the foregoing instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that they executed the same. 

NOTARY PUBLIC 



DEVELOPMENT PLANS
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NIBLEY CITY DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by NIBLEY CITY (“City”) and R 

& W ENTERPRISES INC, a Utah corporation, together with PROJECT VALOR, a STATE 

501(c)(3) non-profit organization (collectively, “Developer”), and is effective as of the date that 

it is executed by all parties, as shown by the signatures contained herein. 

RECITALS 

A. Developer owns or otherwise has the right to develop certain property located within the 

City and seeks to develop the same (“Development”), containing approximately 5.36 

acres, which property is more particularly described as: 

Parcel 03-0020-0018 

 

BEG IN S LN OF 2600 S ST AT PT E 382.59 FT OF PT BR S 33 FT & E 1320 

FT FROM NW COR NE/4 SEC 21 T 11N R 1E & TH S 2*10'31" E 489.62 FT TH 

N89*50'47" E 494.03 FT TH N 2*30'24"W 488.41 FT TO S LN OF SD ST TH W 

491.25 FT ALG SD ST TO BEG 

 

LESS 0.17 AC TO NIBLEY CITY FOR ROAD IN BK 980 PG 194  

B. The Development is zoned under applicable City land use regulations as R-2 (“Zoning”) 

and currently has been developed as a legal non-conforming mobile home park. 

C. Developer desires to construct and/or install a single “Boxabl Casita” or similar pre-

constructed dwelling unit structure (“Casita”) on a vacant storage area on the southeast 

corner of the Development, in order to house transitioning and/or homeless veterans.  

D. Developer has prepared preliminary and conceptual plans and documents for the 

Development, which plans show the proposed uses and other improvements for the 

Development (“Development Plans”), which Development Plans are attached and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

E. City has, determined that the approval of this Agreement with Developer, and the 

establishment thereby of specific requirements, elements, and aspects of the Development, 

some or all of which are not currently allowed under the Zoning, will result in benefits to 

the City and its residents that are not provided by the Zoning. 

F. The Parties therefore desire to enter into this Agreement in order to provide specific 

requirements, elements, conditions, and standards that will govern the Development. 

TERMS 

1. Compliance with Regulations.  

a. The Development remains subject to all terms, conditions, and requirements of the 

Zoning and all other applicable federal, state, county, and City laws, ordinances, 
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codes, standards, and land use regulations applicable to the Development and to 

any building, improvement, landscaping, excavation, or other work required or 

related to the Development, including but not limited to payment of fees and 

compliance with design, construction, and building and fire code standards. This 

Agreement does not grant any land use approval or land use permit, and Developer 

agrees to apply for all such required approvals and permits prior to commencing 

any work or construction. 

b. To the extent that the terms, conditions, and requirements of this Agreement and 

the Development Plans expressly modify or are in direct conflict with the Zoning 

or another City-adopted ordinance, standard, or land use regulation applicable to 

the Development, this Agreement shall control and take precedence, but only to the 

extent of the express modification or direct conflict. 

c. Nothing herein alters the non-conforming status of the Development. Any 

restoration, reconstruction, redevelopment, or other change in use of any part of the 

Development, including the Casita, must comply with the Zoning and Nibley City 

Code (“NCC”) 19.26.  

2. Construction of Casita. Developer shall be entitled to construct, install, place, locate, and 

maintain the Casita in a manner substantially similar to and in substantial compliance with 

the Development Plans, attached hereto, and the terms, conditions, and requirements set 

forth below. The express terms of this Agreement shall control and take precedence in the 

event of a conflict between the Development Plans and this Agreement. 

a. Units. No more than one (1) Casita may be installed pursuant to this Agreement. 

No other dwelling units are permitted to be constructed within the Development 

pursuant to this Agreement. Any other or additional dwelling units proposed to be 

constructed shall comply with the Zoning and Nibley City Code (“NCC”) 19.26. 

b. Veteran Housing. The Casita shall be occupied by no more than one family, as 

defined by NCC. At least one person within such family must be a United States 

military veteran. Developer shall be responsible for verifying veteran status and 

shall confirm and document veteran status to City upon City’s reasonable request. 

c. Setbacks and Regulations: The Casita shall be setback at least ten feet (10’) from 

property lines and public or private streets (top back of curb), and setback at least 

eighteen feet (18’) from all other homes, buildings, and structures. The Casita 

shall be limited to the following dimensions: 19 feet in width X 38 feet in length 

and shall be compliant with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) guidelines. 

The Casita shall have a maximum building footprint of 760 square feet and 

maximum height of 12 feet above finished grade. The Casita shall be provided 

with at least one (1) off-street parking space. 

d. Permits: The Casita shall require a building permit and certificate of occupancy 

prior to construction and occupancy, respectively, of the Casita. 
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e.  Water Efficiency Improvement Plan: The Developer shall be required to submit a 

plan to significantly reduce or eliminate loss of water for the private water lines 

which service the mobile home park prior to certificate of occupancy of the Casita. 

The Plan shall detail specific capital improvements to be made to the system, 

including a time frame for installation. 

f.  Profitability: The property owner of the parcel shall not receive any profit from the 

rental of the space for the Casita. Utilities and maintenance fee associated with the 

use may be assessed, but no net monetary profit may be obtained from the rental of 

land for the Casita. 

g. Design Elements: Developer agrees to construct and develop the Casita and related 

improvements according to the design elements and specifications as set forth in 

the Development Plans and this Agreement. Developer acknowledges that City is 

not authorized, under state law, to regulate design elements of one to two family 

dwellings without the request and agreement of Developer. Developer hereby 

requests and agrees to the imposition of such design elements in recognition of and 

in exchange for the benefits granted to Developer herein.  

3. Reserved Legislative Powers. The execution of this Agreement and the establishment of 

the vested rights shall not prevent the City, pursuant to the exercise of its legislative 

authority and power, to amend, enact, or repeal any provision of the Zoning or any other 

ordinance, specification, standard, or code, provided that no such legislative action shall 

reduce or eliminate the Developer’s vested rights under this Agreement unless facts and 

circumstances are present and specifically found by the governing body of the City that 

meet the compelling, countervailing public interest exception to the vested rights doctrine 

under Utah law. Any such proposed legislative action affecting the vested rights shall be 

of general application to all development activity in the City. 

4. Recordation. This Agreement, including the Development Plans, shall be recorded against 

title to all real property that is included the Development prior to any further land use 

application, permit, or approval being sought for the Development. Developer shall ensure 

that there are no holders of interest that are superior in title to this Agreement, and that all 

interests, including but not limited to liens, mortgages, deeds of trust, and other similar 

instruments, have been made subordinate to this Agreement. Developer shall provide such 

documentation as is necessary to establish the fact of the recordation and of the priority of 

this Agreement prior to receiving any further approval related to the Development. 

5. Assignment; Successors Bound.  This Agreement may be assigned and transferred by 

Developer. This Agreement shall run with the land and be binding on and inure to the 

benefit of the successors and assigns of Developer, such that any person who obtains any 

right, title, or interest to any portion of the Development shall be bound by the rights and 

obligations of this Agreement and shall be responsible for performance of Developer’s 

obligations related to such portion in the same manner as Developer. All assignees, 

transferees, and successors in interest shall be bound by all terms of this Agreement 

applicable to Developer as though such party were named herein as Developer. 
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6. Modifications to Development. 

a. Developer shall develop, construct, improve, and maintain the Casita in a manner 

substantially similar to and in substantial compliance with the Development Plans 

and this Agreement, provided that Developer may adjust the final placement or 

location of the Casita and other improvements within and upon the Development 

as necessary and as approved by the City through the City building permit review 

and approval processes, so long as such adjustments do not materially change the 

overall design and intent of the Development and comply with this Agreement. 

b. In the event of a dispute between Developer and the City as to whether a change is 

“material,” no change, modification, or adjustment shall be made without express, 

written City approval of such change, modification, or adjustment. 

7. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Agreement’s effective date 

and shall continue until it is terminated, rendering the Development subject to the general 

zoning regulations applicable to the affected property, as set forth herein: 

a. The Agreement may be terminated due to the uncured breach or default of one of 

the parties hereto, subject to the provisions set forth in Section 15. 

b. The Agreement may be terminated by the mutual agreement of the parties. 

c. The Agreement may be terminated by the City if Developer fails to submit a 

building permit for the Casita within twelve (12) months after the effective date of 

this Agreement, or fails to obtain a certificate of occupancy for the Casita within 

twenty-four (24) months after the effective date of this Agreement.  

d. Developer may apply for an extension of the deadlines set forth in this Section from 

the governing body of the City, who may grant an extension, with such terms and 

conditions as the body finds expedient, upon a finding of good cause for the delay 

or extension. 

8. Default.  

a. In the event of a breach or default of any term of this Agreement, the non-breaching 

party shall provide written notice to the breaching party. Such notice shall describe 

the alleged breach, the applicable provisions of this Agreement, and the actions 

necessary to remedy and cure the breach.  

b. Within 30 days after the date of such notice, the breaching party shall either: 

i. cure the breach and notify the non-breaching party, in writing, of the actions 

taken to cure the breach; or 

ii. notify the non-breaching party, in writing, why the breach cannot be cured 

within 30 days and establishing a reasonable time to cure such breach, with 

a description of the actions to be taken by the breaching party. 
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c. In the event the breaching party does not cure the breach or default within the 

specified timeframes, the non-breaching party may declare this Agreement to be 

terminated and send written notice of such declaration to the breaching party. 

9. Severability. Each provision of this Agreement shall be separate, several, and distinct from 

each other provision hereof, and the invalidity, unenforceability, or illegality of any such 

provisions shall not affect the enforceability of any other provision hereof. 

10. No Waiver. Failure of a party to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed a waiver 

of any such right and shall not affect the right of such party to exercise, at some future time, 

said right or any other right it may have hereunder, provided that this provision shall not 

operate to excuse Developer’s non-compliance with the deadlines set forth in Section 14. 

No modification, waiver, or amendment to any right, term, condition, obligation, or 

provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless adopted through the process set forth in 

Section 13. 

11. Entire Agreement.  

a. This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the 

Development and the special rights and obligations granted to and assumed by 

Developer related to the Development.  

b. This Agreement shall supersede all prior agreements, conversations, 

understandings, contracts, and representations related to the Development or any 

term or provision of this Agreement. Neither party shall rely on or attempt to 

enforce any statement or representation, not contained herein, made by any person 

regarding the Development or Developer’s rights and obligations thereto. 

12. Enforcement and Governing Law. This Agreement may be enforced by any means 

available to the parties, subject to the notice and default provisions set forth in Section 15. 

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Utah, and any court 

proceedings shall be brought in the First Judicial District Court of the State of Utah. Prior 

to initiating any such litigation, the parties shall first attempt to mediate or seek an advisory 

opinion regarding any dispute related to this Agreement through the Utah Property Rights 

Ombudsman’s office or another qualified mediator that both parties agree upon. A party 

that prevails in any litigation following such mediation or opinion regarding this 

Agreement shall be entitled to recover their reasonable court costs and attorney fees related 

to the litigation.  

13. Third Parties. This Agreement is intended for the sole benefit of the named parties thereto. 

No third party, except for permitted assignees, transferees, and successors-in-interest, shall 

have any right to enforce any of the terms or obligations herein contained. 

14. Representations. The persons signing this Agreement on behalf of the parties represent 

and warrant that they have the authority and authorization to execute the Agreement on 

behalf of the respective party such that the party will be bound by all rights, obligations, 

terms, and conditions herein, and that all steps, requirements, and processes necessary for 

a party to approve and execute the Agreement have each been completed. 
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For Nibley City:     Attested by: 

By:              

       Mayor       City Recorder 

Date:       

 

 

For Developer: R & W ENTERPRISES INC 

By:        Date:       

Name:        Title:       

  

STATE OF UTAH ) 

   : ss 

County of   ) 

 

On the ____ day of ________________, 20____, personally appeared before me, 

_____________________________, the       of Developer, the 

signer of the foregoing instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that they executed the same. 

 

       

 NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

 

For Developer: PROJECT VALOR 

By:        Date:       

Name:        Title:       

  

STATE OF UTAH ) 

   : ss 

County of   ) 

 

On the ____ day of ________________, 20____, personally appeared before me, 

_____________________________, the       of Developer, the 

signer of the foregoing instrument, who duly acknowledged to me that they executed the same. 

 

       

 NOTARY PUBLIC 
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“There are thousands of homeless men, women and children living out on the 
street every night…    33, 129 are US Veterans.  Men & Women who joined our 
military, served to protect our country and were willing to make the ultimate 
sacrifice, if called upon.  For one reason or another they find themselves without a 
home, lost, many without hope…  I think they deserve better.  I think they deserve 
our help.  I think they deserve a chance to get back up, to stand tall and proud again.  
I think we owe them that much…”  Michael Fortune, Founder Homeless Veteran Recovery Program

WE ARE ASKING FOR YOUR HELP TO SOLVE THIS PROBLEM, TO ELIMINATE VETERAN HOMELESSNESS IN UTAH
The following slides present a detailed summary of our plan.  Our “Pilot Program” describes how we identify them, assist them, house them, and give them hope once again.



HOMELESS VETERAN RECOVERY PROGRAM
Solving the Homeless Veteran Crisis in Utah by December 25, 2024

(Statistical Information Provided Based upon the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development)

The 2022 Annual Homelessness Assessment Report (AHAR)

Section Five – Veterans Experiencing Homelessness

“On a Single Night in 2022 ~ 33,129 Veterans were Experiencing Homelessness.”

(slide 2 of 9)



1. Complete the Organizational and Volunteer Team Setups Within the State of Utah

This process will utilize volunteers from the state-wide resources of Utah State University (USU) Extensions (28 locations) and the Veterans from War 

(VFW) Posts located throughout the State (6 Districts, 23 Posts). These volunteers will work closely with local county officials who are involved in 

assisting Utahans with various local, county, state and federal programs (i.e. Bear River Association of Governments (BRAG) that serves Cache, Box 

Elder and Rich counties in Northern Utah), as well as representatives with the Veteran Affairs Administration (VA) and local veteran’s assistance 

organizations (i.e. Cache Valley Veterans Association (CVVA) that provides a variety of personalized services to Veterans).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Case Managers Personalized Assistance Medical, Rehab, Private, County Housing – Boxabl 
        Counseling, other State and Federal Electrical, Plumbing, etc. 

Homeless Veteran Recovery Program 
Board of Directors 

Executive Director 
Michael Fortune 

Contact Volunteers 
(i.e. USU/VFW) 

Local Cnty. Reps 
(i.e. BRAG/WFS) 

Local Vet. Grp. 
(i.e. CVVA) 

Veterans Admin. 
(Federal Programs) 

Funding 
(Donors) 

Support 
Services 

Accountant 
Finances 

Executive 
Assistant 

(Slide 3 of 9)

(Once we have secured the necessary funding to purchase our two units and cover the operational costs, we will accelerate our Pilot Program)



1. Contact All Homeless Veterans – “Identify, Recover, Interview and Assist” 

This process will be performed by the volunteers (identified in item #1) and will be organized in teams of two.  Their 
main objectives will be to utilize local resources (police, sheriffs, county agencies, etc.) to search, locate and make 
contact with homeless veterans within their counties *.  Volunteers will obtain the veteran’s name and service 
information, identify needs, present a brief description of the “Homeless Veteran Recovery Program” and offer the 
veteran an opportunity to participate in the housing and recovery program. (Additionally, offer immediate 
assistance to get them off the streets and into a hotel while their needs are being assessed).  Note: Volunteers 
will provide daily updates and resource needs to program management (electronically). 

                                   

 Find our Homeless Vets     Get Them Off the Street/Hotel      Interview 
              (use Utah’s hotel Voucher program)  (determine immediate needs – Report) 

* These actions are based upon and follow the successful programs implemented within over (20) cities in the United States 
who set out to end (100%) of the homeless veteran problem within their cities. These case studies were included in the 2022 
Annual Homelessness Assessment Report (AHAR).  Steps: Identify, Recover, Interview and Assist. 

2.
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1. Identify the "Specific Critical Needs" of Veterans Found for Immediate Priority Action 

The volunteer teams will report daily by filing electronically and describe their actions taken, individuals found 
(specifically homeless veterans) and information regarding other homeless non-veteran individuals found (this 
information will be passed onto the local homeless representatives).  Once a homeless veteran has been located and 
helped off the street, the volunteer(s) will conduct a detailed interview (as best as possible) to determine the needs 
(medical, counseling, housing, VA processing assistance, etc.) of the individual(s) and determine if they are willing to 
participate in the “Homeless Veteran Recovery Program (HVRP)”.   The volunteers will report this information 
immediately to allow the process to begin and a local case manager to be assigned (verification of military service, 
background check, VA status, assignment of case worker(s), medical appointments, etc.).  Note: For veterans who 
choose not to participate within the (HVRP) program, we will continue to reach out, stay in contact and look for an 
opportunity to assist them in the future. 

 

2. Report the "Critical Needs Identified and Resources Required" 

The volunteer team members will support the assigned local case manager in providing a detailed report to the 
(HVRP) Executive Director that presents the background information for the veteran, a brief history of their current 
situation and a detailed description of the specific needs of the veteran (medical, counseling, housing, VA processing 
assistance, family information, etc.) and what resources are being requested by the case manager to assist the 
veteran.  The (HVRP) Executive Director will discuss and review the individual veteran’s status, needs assessment 
and resource requests with local officials to determine the most effective way to meet those needs and determine a 
timeline schedule for providing the necessary resources that fall within their jurisdiction.  Additionally, monthly, a 
detailed summary report will be provided to the appropriate local, county and state officials. 

 

3.

4.
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1. Implement the "Critical Action Items Identified and Approved"  

Following the review, discussion, and approval of resources, the (HVRP) Executive Team in cooperation with the local 
case manager will oversee the acquisition and delivery of the resources approved (priority is given to those with 
critical needs (i.e. homeless veteran families (spouse and children), veterans with serious medical and/or mental 
health needs, etc).   

• The contact volunteers will continue to maintain contact with the veteran and provide encouragement. 

• The local Case Manager will manage the approved action items and assist the veteran. 

• The local Veteran’s Group(s) will assist the veteran as needed with VA programs and personalized needs. 

• The local Veterans Administration will assist with VA benefits, medical, counseling, training, financial, etc. 

• The (HVRP) Executive Team Support Services will assist the veteran with housing, utilities, and housing 
maintenance. 
 

5.5.
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1. Prioritize and Complete the "Non-Critical Action Items” 

There will be two levels of assistance (critical and non-critical) that will be considered for each homeless veteran found.  

Veterans who require critical action items will be given top priority.  Other non-critical action items (recommended and 

approved) will be provided as quickly as possible once temporary housing (hotel stay) is provided (i.e. clothing, grooming 

(haircut), transportation assistance for job interviews, etc.).    

1. Continue to Search, Find and Assist Utah's Homeless Veterans 

The Volunteer Teams will continue throughout the year to search for homeless veterans within their assigned areas.  The 

initial search will target homeless veterans that have been identified form the “2023 Point in Time” count.   Any additional 

homeless veterans found will be identified and invited to participate in the program.    

1. Provide an Annual Summary Report (Start-Up and First Year Details)

At the conclusion of the start-up period and the first (12) twelve months of operations, the executive team will prepare the 

first annual report and submit it to the various supporting organizations (local, city, county, state, and private 

partners/donors).   

Additional Key Factors to Monitor:

• Veterans in Utah are at higher risk of suicide, Veteran suicides on the RISE.

(KSL News Radio (by Nick Wyatt) Sept 13, 2021 Article)

• Are we under reporting veteran suicides?

(Deseret News (by Holly Richardson) Sept 28, 2022 Article)

6.

7.

8.

(slide 7 of 9)



Statewide Expansion During The “Pilot Program” In Utah

(slide 9 of 9)

• The Pilot Program will begin in Cache County, fine tune the methods and expand across the State.
• We will increase our volunteer groups and our local support / service providers as we expand.
• We will utilize local resources available in each county as we expand across the state.
• We will seek continuously to obtain local, county and state funding to support the program.
• We will continuously review and modify our methods based upon proven successes in the field.
• We anticipate placing approximately 20 to 25 Boxabl housing units throughout the state.
• We will provide pre-built pitched roofs and porch sections that can be delivered and installed.
• We will inspect and maintain the Boxabl housing units, servicing them as needed.
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Thank You For Your Cooperation & Support…

Let Us Make A Difference And Change People’s Lives !

If you have any questions, would like more information or wish to make a contribution,
Please contact Michael Fortune (435) 512-1506 ~ michaelefortune@gmail.com



 

 

Agenda Item #10 

 

Description Discussion and Consideration: Ordinance 24-02: 
Rezone Parcel 03-018-0015 & a portion of parcel 03-
017-0012. Located at 1150 W 3200 S from 
Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A) (First 
Reading) 

Presenter Levi Roberts, City Planner 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

Approval of Ordinance 24-02: Rezone Parcel 03-018-
0015 & a portion of parcel 03-017-0012. Located at 
1150 W 3200 S from Residential (R-2) to Residential 
(R-2A) adopting Staff’s recommended findings with 
the following conditions:  

1. Nibley City and the applicant exchange land 
between parcels 03-018-0015, parcel 03-017-
0012 and the adjacent remaining 1200 West 
right-of-way to increase the overall park space 
area of the planned 4.38-acre Nibley Meadows 
park to the south of the property, with the ratio 
of the developer to the City for the land 
exchange being no less than 1:1. 

2. The property is legally subdivided in 
accordance with Nibley City Code Chapter 21. 

3. This Rezone does not constitute approval of 
the proposed concept plan submitted with the 
Rezone application. 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Approval of Ordinance 24-02: Rezone Parcel 03-018-
0015 & a portion of parcel 03-017-0012. Located at 
1150 W 3200 S from Residential (R-2) to Residential 
(R-2A) adopting Staff’s recommended findings with 
the following conditions:  

1. Nibley City and the applicant will exchange 
land in an agreement to be determined later 
with the city’s intention to increase the size of 
the planned Nibley Meadows park. 

2. The property is legally subdivided in 
accordance with Nibley City Code Chapter 21. 

3. This Rezone does not constitute approval of 
the proposed concept plan submitted with the 
Rezone application. 

4. The zoning on the property will revert back to 
Residential (R-2) if the land exchange and 
subdivision required in Items 1 & 2 are not 
finalized 



 

 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager, City Planner, City Engineer 

 

Background 

 

Josh Barnes, representative of  Nibley Hawk Hollow LLC, property owner of Parcel 03-

018-0015, located at 1150 W 3200 S has applied to Rezone this property and a portion 

of the adjacent City-owned property (Parcel 03-017-0012) from Residential (R-2) to 

Residential (R-2A).   

  

Site Context   

  

The property currently owned by the applicant is 9.64 acres with a proposition to rezone 

2.13 acres of adjacent City-owned property fronting 1200 west. The two properties 

together total 11.77 acres.  The applicant’s property currently sits vacant. The city-

owned property includes a portion of the former 1200 west right-of-way, which is no 

longer used for general traffic, due to the realignment of the roadway and some 

additional vacant property. The property is bordered by the Nibley Meadows 

Subdivision, currently under construction to the south and west (R2, R-PUD overlay), 

Bonnevilla (R-2) and Nibley Garden Estates (R-2A) to the north, and vacant city property 

to the west (P/S).  Nibley Meadows includes a combination of single family and 

townhomes with a 4.38 acre park to be dedicated directly south of the property. 

Remaining nearby property is characterized by agricultural and low density residential 

uses.  

  

Site Proposal 

  

As noted above the applicant is proposing to rezone both their existing property and 

some adjacent property owned by Nibley City. The reason for this is to allow for a land 

exchange that would facilitate development of some of the City-owned property, while 

dedicating open space to the City on the south side of the development, adjacent to the 

planned Nibley Meadows park. Previously, a preliminary plat of an Open Space 

Subdivision was approved on the site with open space dedicated in the vicinity, adjacent 

to the Nibley Meadows Park. However, since that approval, the property has changed 

hands and the new property owners have indicated that they would like to propose a 

new design.  

  

The applicant has provided the following concept plan with the application that displays 

the project area and a potential subdivision. This concept plan is for illustrative purposes 

at this time and the decision of the rezone does not constitute approval or disapproval of 

the subdivision design.  



 

 

  

General Plan Guidance  

  

The Future Land Use Map designates this property as “medium-density residential”.  

Other provisions of the General Plan related to this request include:  

  

• Land Use Goal 1: Encourage development that respects and preserves the 

character of the City and provides a mix of commercial, residential housing and 

some light industrial uses. Carefully plan for growth within the City, ensuring that 

development occurs in suitable locations and can be efficiently served over the 

long term.  

• Land Use Goal 2: Guide land use and growth decisions through application of the 

General Plan, the Future Land Use Map, and relevant goals, principles, and 

projects.  

• Land Use Goal 4: Preserve agricultural lands, natural water features, 

sensitive areas and open spaces to protect the rural character of Nibley. 

• Residential Development and Housing Goal 1: Ensure that new residential 

development is compatible with existing development and protects Nibley’s rural 

character and natural resources.  

• Residential Development and Housing Goal 2: Preserve existing housing and 

neighborhoods where appropriate.  

  

Based upon the context of the site and the guidance provided in the Future Land-Use 

Map and goals of the general plan, Staff has determined that this application, including 

the proposal for open space dedication, is in support of the General Plan.  

  

Applicant Statement:  

  

What is the need for the proposed zone change?  

  

The need for the proposed zone change is to create better connectivity to the proposed 

housing development and the planned city park. Allowing flexibility in the size of the 

residential lots creates additional space for road access and allows for increased open 

space adjacent to the proposed city park. The proposed development more effectively 

utilizes a difficult-to-develop piece of city-owned property adjacent to 1200 West which 

allows for the project to expand upon the open space just south of the parcel. Overall, 

the rezone enables a more synergistic project for Nibley as it integrates well with the 

adjacent PUD housing development, the newly expanded 1200 West/3200 South 

roundabout intersection, and the planned open spaces in the area. 

  

What will the public benefit be if the zone change is granted?  

  



 

 

The public will benefit via the expansion of the designated city park area along 1200 

West and improved access to the northern park area. The development plans for Nibley 

Meadows include a city park area shown as approximately 4.38 acres. This city park 

area would be expanded to the north, with the proposed project, increasing the useable 

area of the park. The expanded park could allow for a soccer field, a football field, or 

other uses that may be in line with Nibley City's Parks & Recreation plan. The 

development will also provide additional traditional housing options for residents who 

may not choose to be part of the PUD community. 

  

How does the proposal comply with the goals and policies of the Nibley City General 

Plan?  

  

This proposal is a well-planned and attractive subdivision that will promote recreation by 

enlarging the use of the nearby city park. It will also provide a variety of homes to be 

developed on this land near a promising city park. Various sizes of lots are planned 

which will allow for a variety of home sizes/layouts. These custom homes will be a nice 

variation from townhomes and small single-family homes that will be coming into the 

area while preserving the character of existing neighborhoods. 

  

Is there any annexation of property necessary?  

  

No  

  

Please explain how the anticipated use is appropriate for the surrounding area.  

  

The surrounding area includes a variety of uses. On the north, it includes residential and 

agriculture. To the east is an R-PUD development with townhomes and medium-density 

residential with a future city park to the south. Along the west is a medium-density 

residential development. This project would provide a medium-density subdivision that 

will act as a buffer to the high-density residential area to the southeast. This 

development will maintain the distinct nature of Nibley City to those that pass by on 

3200 South and 1200 West. 

  

What public infrastructure is in place to serve the type and intensity of the proposed 

use? If needed, could the infrastructure be reasonably extended, at the cost of the 

property owner or developer?  

  

The proposed concept plan includes connections to 1200 West and 3200 South. Wet 

and dry utilities are in close proximity to the site. The Water System Master Plan shows 

a 12-inch waterline stub along the old 1200 West alignment. This will be addressed 

before our preliminary plat submittal.  

  

Recommended Findings 



 

 

  

• The proposed rezone to R-2A is in support of the General Plan with assurance of 

meaningful open space dedication. 

• The application allows for more opportunities to develop necessary and 

compatible housing. 

• The application allows for efficient use of available land, while providing a public 

benefit of additional park space. 
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ORDINANCE 24-02 

 

REZONE PARCEL 03-018-0015 & A PORTION OF PARCEL 03-017-0012. LOCATED AT 1150 W 

3200 S FROM RESIDENTIAL (R-2) TO RESIDENTIAL (R-2A) 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL LOCATED AT NIBLEY, UTAH, THAT: 

 

Parcel 03-018-0015 & a portion of parcel 03-017-0012, the area of which is described below, is hereby rezoned 

from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A).  

 
The Rezone is conditional upon the following: 

 

1. Nibley City and the applicant exchange land between parcels 03-018-0015, parcel 03-017-0012 and the 

adjacent remaining 1200 West right-of-way to increase the overall park space area of the planned 4.38-

acre Nibley Meadows park to the south of the property, with the ratio of the developer to the City for the 

land exchange being no less than 1:1.  

2. The property is legally subdivided in accordance with Nibley City Code Chapter 21.  

3. This Rezone does not constitute approval of the proposed concept plan submitted with the Rezone 

application. 

 

PASSED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS _________ day of __________, 2023.  

 

 

________________________________ 

       Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:___________________________      

    Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder 
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https://app.civicreview.com/permits/65a953b67503c149ca7f946d/terms/65a953b67503c149ca7f9470/print-permit 1/6

Application Review Status

Application Form Data
(Empty fields are not included)

First Name

Nibley Hawk Hollow LLC

Address Street

95 W 100 S #340

City

Logan

State

UT

Zip Code

Nibley

95 W 100 S #340
01/18/2024 - 01/17/2124

Rezone, Code Change, or Master
Plan Change Application
Plan Check

New

Printed: 02/02/2024

5830531

d398c530-b61f-11ee-91c5-619be86e8200

Active

Final-Review Not Reviewed
01/18/2024

Fees

Plan Check $500.00

Public Notice Fee $150.00

Subtotal $650.00

Processing Fee $20.80

Total $670.80

Amount Paid $670.80

Total Due $0.00

Payments

01/18/2024 Online $650.00

Total Paid $670.80



2/2/24, 1:14 PM Civic Review - Permit & Licensing Software

https://app.civicreview.com/permits/65a953b67503c149ca7f946d/terms/65a953b67503c149ca7f9470/print-permit 2/6

84321

Phone

801-389-9463

Email

jbarnes@mountainstatespm.com

Is the property owner representative different from the listed property owner

yes
First Name

Josh

Last Name

Barnes

Address Street

95 W 100 S #340

City

Logan

State

UT

Zip Code

84321

Phone

801-389-9463

Email

jbarnes@mountainstatespm.com

Request Type:

Rezone

Project Address Street

1150 West 3200 South

Tax I.D. Number(s)

03-018-0015

Project Size (Acres)

9.64

Current Zoning (check all that apply)

R-2- Residential

Proposed Zoning (check all that apply)



2/2/24, 1:14 PM Civic Review - Permit & Licensing Software

https://app.civicreview.com/permits/65a953b67503c149ca7f946d/terms/65a953b67503c149ca7f9470/print-permit 3/6

R-2A- Residential
Site Plan and Map (please attach)

What is the need for the proposed zone change?

The need for the proposed zone change is to create better connectivity to the proposed housing
development and the planned city park. Allowing flexibility in the size of the residential lots creates
additional space for road access and allows for increased open space adjacent to the proposed city
park. The proposed development more effectively utilizes a difficult-to-develop piece of city-owned
property adjacent to 1200 West which allows for the project to expand upon the open space just
south of the parcel. Overall, the rezone enables a more synergistic project for Nibley as it integrates
well with the adjacent PUD housing development, the newly expanded 1200 West/3200 South
roundabout intersection, and the planned open spaces in the area.

What will the public benefit be if the zone change is granted?

The public will benefit via the expansion of the designated city park area along 1200 West and
improved access to the northern park area. The development plans for Nibley Meadows include a
city park area shown as approximately 4.38 acres. This city park area would be expanded to the
north, with the proposed project, increasing the useable area of the park. The expanded park could
allow for a soccer field, a football field, or other uses that may be in line with Nibley City's Parks &
Recreation plan. The development will also provide additional traditional housing options for
residents who may not choose to be part of the PUD community.

How does the proposal comply with the goals and policies of the Nibley City General Plan?

This proposal is a well-planned and attractive subdivision that will promote recreation by enlarging
the use of the nearby city park. It will also provide a variety of homes to be developed on this land
near a promising city park. Various sizes of lots are planned which will allow for a variety of home
sizes/layouts. These custom homes will be a nice variation from townhomes and small single-family
homes that will be coming into the area while preserving the character of existing neighborhoods.

Is there any annexation of property necessary?

No

Please explain how the anticipated use is appropriate for the surrounding area.

The surrounding area includes a variety of uses. On the north, it includes residential and agriculture.
To the east is an R-PUD development with townhomes and medium-density residential with a future
city park to the south. Along the west is a medium-density residential development. This project
would provide a medium-density subdivision that will act as a buffer to the high-density residential
area to the southeast. This development will maintain the distinct nature of Nibley City to those that
pass by on 3200 South and 1200 West.

What public infrastructure is in place to serve the type and intensity of the proposed use? If needed, could the

infrastructure be reasonably extended, at the cost of the property owner or developer?

The proposed concept plan includes connections to 1200 West and 3200 South. Wet and dry utilities
are in close proximity to the site. The Water System Master Plan shows a 12-inch waterline stub
along the old 1200 West alignment. This will be addressed before our preliminary plat submittal.

Please attach a statement from the County treasurer showing the current tax status of the property.

  21-292 Hawk Hollow Concept_R2A_Rev3.pdf
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Signature
I certify under penalty of perjury that this application and all information submitted as a part of this application are true,
complete, and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I also certify that I am the owner of the subject property and that the
authorized agent noted in this application has my consent to represent me concerning this application. Should any of the
information or representations submitted in connection with this application be incorrect or untrue, I understand that Nibley
may rescind any approval, or take any other legal or appropriate action. I understand that any cost of engineering, legal, fire,
or other review incurred by the City shall be my responsibility to pay. I also acknowledge that I have reviewed the applicable
sections of the Nibley City Code and that items and checklists contained in this application are basic and minimum
requirements only and that other requirements may be imposed that are unique to individual projects or uses.

Posting. Not less than ten (10) days before the public hearing, Applicant is responsible for posting a sign in a prominent place
on the property containing, in lettering that may be reasonably read by passersby, the time, date, and location of the public
hearing. The posting shall not be required before the application being accepted. However, the City shall require that, not less
than ten (10) days before the public hearing, the Applicant provides the City with evidence of compliance with this
requirement.

With my signature, I give consent to receive service of process at the email listed on this application.

Josh Barnes - 01/18/2024 9:37 am

  Nibley Hawk Hollow LLC Tax Info.pdf
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Agenda Item #11 

 

Description Discussion & Consideration: Ordinance 24-04: 
Rezone Parcel 03-0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, 
located at 1405 W 3200 S from Residential (R-2) to 
Residential (R-2A) (First Reading) 

Presenter Levi Roberts, Planner 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

Denial of Ordinance 24-04: Rezone Parcel 03-0017-
0019 & 03-0017-0020, located at 1405 W 3200 S 
from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A) 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Approval of Ordinance 24-04: Rezone Parcel 03-
0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, located at 1405 W 3200 
S from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A) for first 
reading. 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager, City Planner, City Attorney, 
Planning Commission 

 

Background  

 

Josh Low, representative of Hidden Valley Estates LLC, property owner of Parcel 03-

0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, located at 1405 W 3200 S has applied to Rezone the 

properties from Residential (R-2) to Residential (R-2A). On September 14, 2023, the 

City Council Rezoned the property from Agricultural (A) to Residential (R-2). At the time, 

applicant proposed to rezone the properties as R-2A. However, the Planning 

Commission determined that R-2 was a more suitable zone for the property, citing that 

there would be more of an incentive to develop the property as an Open Space 

Subdivision. The City Council concurred with this assessment and rezoned the property 

R-2.  

  

This application is essentially a reconsideration of this former request. The applicant has 

provided an updated justification and a concept plan of a potential standard R-2A 

subdivision. It is important to note that approval of the Rezone would not constitute 

approval of the subdivision concept, but is provided for illustrative purposes. 

  

Although this Rezone was previously denied, Staff is recommending approval, as the 

proposal is consistent with the General Plan, including the Future Land Use Map. That 

said, the medium density designation is inclusive of the scale of development found in 

both R-2 and R-2A zoning, so if the City chooses to deny the application, this decision 

would not necessarily be in conflict with the General Plan. 

  



 

 

Site Context  

  

The two properties together total 19.49 acres.  There is a single family residence located 

in the south western corner of lot 03-017-020.  The rest of the property has been 

historically used as an equine facilty with outbuildings, stalls, racetrack, pasture and 

other trainning facilities and equipment.  The property is bordered by Maple Valley 

Estates to the west (R2), Hideaway Estates to Southwest (R2), Stonebridge to the North 

and Heritage Crossing to the east (both R2A).  Each of these bordering subdivisions are 

detached single-family developments.  Malouf Industries is located to the North West.  

The properties could be serviced by two arterial roadways, 1200 West to the East and 

3200 South to the South.  These two corridors also provide access for the properties to 

both water and sewer facilities. The north end of the property has been master planned 

for a storm water drainage corridor and a trail. 

 

 
  

General Plan Guidance 

  

The Future Land Use Map designates this property as “medium-density residential”.  

Other provisions of the General Plan related to this request include: 

  

• Land Use Goal 1: Encourage development that respects and preserves the character of 

the City and provides a mix of commercial, residential housing and some light industrial 

uses. Carefully plan for growth within the City, ensuring that development occurs in 

suitable locations and can be efficiently served over the long term. 

• Land Use Goal 2: Guide land use and growth decisions through application of the 

General Plan, the Future Land Use Map, and relevant goals, principles, and projects. 



 

 

• Residential Development and Housing Goal 1: Ensure that new residential development 

is compatible with existing development and protects Nibley’s rural character and natural 

resources. 

• Residential Development and Housing Goal 2: Preserve existing housing and 

neighborhoods where appropriate. 

  

Based upon the context of the site and the guidance provided in the Future Land-Use 

Map and goals of the general plan, Staff has determined that this application is in 

support of the General Plan. 

  

Applicant Statement: 

  

What is the need for the proposed zone change? 

A density and size of lots that is consistent with the surrounding area and the 

development (Heritage Crossing) that we are attaching to/continuing on from. 

What will the public benefit be if the zone change is granted? 

Affordable lots and continued look and feel of past subdivisions 

How does the proposal comply with the goals and policies of the Nibley City General 

Plan? 

This higher density was suggested within the general plan 

Is there any annexation of property necessary? 

No 

Please explain how the anticipated use is appropriate for the surrounding area. 

This higher density zone (from R2) is the same zoning as everything surrounding this 

ground with the exception of a small portion that touches on one corner. 

What public infrastructure is in place to serve the type and intensity of the proposed 

use? If needed, could the infrastructure be reasonably extended, at the cost of the 

property owner or developer? 

Public infrastructure is in place touching property boundary. 

  

Recommended Findings 

  

1. The application is in support of the Nibley City General Plan and Future Land Use Map. 

2. The zoning is compatible and consistent with zoning and development in the 

surrounding area. 
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ORDINANCE 24-04 

 

REZONE PARCEL 03-0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, LOCATED AT 1405 W 3200 S FROM 

RESIDENTIAL (R-2) TO RESIDENTIAL (R-2A) 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL LOCATED AT NIBLEY, UTAH, THAT: 

 

Parcel 03-0017-0019 & 03-0017-0020, more particularly described below, is hereby rezoned from Agricultural 

(A) to Residential (R-2).  

 

Parcel 03-0017-0019: 

 

A portion of the SE1/4 of Section 20, Township 11 North, Range 1 East, Salt Lake Base & Meridian, located in  

Nibley, Utah, more particularly described as follows:  

 

Beginning on the northeast corner of MAPLE VALLEY ESTATES Subdivision, Phase 4, and the southwest  

corner of STONEBRIDGE Subdivision, Phase 1, according to the Official Plat thereof on file in the Office of 

the Cache  County Recorder, located S89°51'19"E along the Section line 1,326.76 feet from the West 1/4 

Corner of Section 20,  T11N, R1E, SLB&M; thence S89°51'19"E (plat: S89°54'58"W) along said Plat 1,026.75 

feet to a Boundary Line Adjustment described in Book 2021 Page 3471 of the Official records of Cache County 

and extension of the west line of HERITAGE CROSSING Subdivision according to the Official Plat thereof on 

file in the Office of the Cache County Recorder; thence along said Plat the following 3 (three) courses and 

distances: S0°03'24"W along said Boundary Line Adjustment 519.64 feet; thence N89°51'08"W 115.19 feet; 

thence S0°10'30"W 97.31 feet to a rebar and the northeast corner of HIDEAWAY ESTATES Subdivision, 

according to the Official Plat thereof on file in the Office of the Cache County Recorder; thence along said Plat 

the following 4 (four) courses and distances: N88°51'30"W (plat: S88°51'33"E) 437.68 feet; thence S0°01'27"E 

(plat: N0°01'32"W) 300.02 feet; thence S88°42'04"E (plat: N88°42'07"W) 108.91 feet; thence S0°15'21"E (plat: 

N0°15'24"W) 199.73 feet to the north right-of-way line of 3200 South Street and the southwest corner of 

HlDEAWAY ESTATES Subdivision, according to the Official Plat thereof on File in the Office of the Cache 

County Recorder; thence N88°54'38"W along said north right-of-way line 346.44 feet; thence N1°05'22"E 

129.25 feet; thence N88°54'38"W 228.36 feet to a point on the east line of MAPLE VALLEY ESTATES 

Subdivision, Phase 1, according to the Official Plat thereof on File in the Office of the Cache County Recorder; 

thence N0°38'12"W (plat: S0°51'17"E) along said Plat 972.66 feet to the point of beginning.  

 

CONT 19.23 AC 

 

Parcel 03-017-0020: 

 

A portion of the SE1/4 of Section 20, Township 11 North, Range 1 East, Salt Lake Base & Meridian, located in  

Nibley, Utah, more particularly described as follows:  

 

Beginning on a point located on the east line of MAPLE VALLEY ESTATES Subdivision, Phase 1, according  

to the Official Plat thereof on file in the Office of the Cache County Recorder, located S89°51'19"E along the 

Section line 1,326.76 feet and S0°38'12"E (plat: S0°51'17"E) along the east line of said Plat 972.66 feet from 

the West 1/4 Corner of Section 20, T11N, R1E, SLB&M; thence S88°54'38"E 228.36 feet; thence S1°05'22"W 

129.25 feet to a point on the north right-of-way line of 3200 South Street; thence N88°54'38"W along said north 

right-of-way line 224.47 feet to the southeast corner of MAPLE VALLEY ESTATES Subdivision, Phase 1, 

according to the Official Plat thereof on file in the Office of the Cache County Recorder; thence N0°38'12"W 

(plat: S0°51'17"E) along said Plat 129.30 feet to the point of beginning.  

 



CONT 0.67 AC 

 

PASSED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS _________ day of __________, 2023.  

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

       Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:___________________________      

    Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder 
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Application Review Status

Application Form Data

(Empty fields are not included)

First Name

HIDDEN VALLEY ESTATES PROJECT LLC

Address Street

Approx. 3200 S. 1200 W.

City

Nibley

State

UT

Nibley

3200 S. 1200 W. Nibley, UT
84321
02/13/2024 - 02/12/2124

Rezone, Code Change, or Master
Plan Change Application
Plan Check

New

Printed: 02/23/2024

9311050

e71ea2a0-cab5-11ee-8106-2152e600d337

Active

Final-Review Not Reviewed
02/13/2024

Fees

Plan Check $500.00

Public Notice Fee $150.00

Subtotal $650.00

Processing Fee $20.80

Total $670.80

Amount Paid $670.80

Total Due $0.00

Payments

02/13/2024 Online $650.00

Total Paid $670.80
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Zip Code

84321

Phone

435-764-5430

Email

joshlow@dwellrg.com

Is the property owner representative different from the listed property owner

yes
First Name

Joshua

Last Name

Low

Address Street

850 N. 200 W.

City

Logan

State

UT

Zip Code

84321

Phone

435-764-5430

Email

joshlow@dwellrg.com

Request Type:

Rezone

Project Address Street

3200 S. 1200 W. Nibley, UT 84321

Tax I.D. Number(s)

03-017-0019

Project Size (Acres)

19.23

Current Zoning (check all that apply)

R-2- Residential
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Proposed Zoning (check all that apply)

R-2A- Residential
Site Plan and Map (please attach)

What is the need for the proposed zone change?

A density and size of lots that is consistent with the surrounding area and the development (Heritage
Crossing) that we are attaching to/continuing on from.

What will the public benefit be if the zone change is granted?

Affordable lots and continued look and feel of past subdivisions

How does the proposal comply with the goals and policies of the Nibley City General Plan?

This higher density was suggested within the general plan

Is there any annexation of property necessary?

No

Please explain how the anticipated use is appropriate for the surrounding area.

This higher density zone (from R2) is the same zoning as everything surrounding this ground with
the exception of a small portion that touches on one corner,

What public infrastructure is in place to serve the type and intensity of the proposed use? If needed, could the

infrastructure be reasonably extended, at the cost of the property owner or developer?

Public infrastructure is in place touching property boundary.

Please attach a statement from the County treasurer showing the current tax status of the property.

Signature
I certify under penalty of perjury that this application and all information submitted as a part of this application are true,
complete, and accurate to the best of my knowledge. I also certify that I am the owner of the subject property and that the
authorized agent noted in this application has my consent to represent me concerning this application. Should any of the
information or representations submitted in connection with this application be incorrect or untrue, I understand that Nibley
may rescind any approval, or take any other legal or appropriate action. I understand that any cost of engineering, legal, fire,
or other review incurred by the City shall be my responsibility to pay. I also acknowledge that I have reviewed the applicable
sections of the Nibley City Code and that items and checklists contained in this application are basic and minimum
requirements only and that other requirements may be imposed that are unique to individual projects or uses.

Posting. Not less than ten (10) days before the public hearing, Applicant is responsible for posting a sign in a prominent place
on the property containing, in lettering that may be reasonably read by passersby, the time, date, and location of the public
hearing. The posting shall not be required before the application being accepted. However, the City shall require that, not less
than ten (10) days before the public hearing, the Applicant provides the City with evidence of compliance with this
requirement.

With my signature, I give consent to receive service of process at the email listed on this application.

Joshua Low - 02/13/2024 2:21 pm

  CONCEPT 2022-07-05 (1) (1).pdf

  CORE - Parcel #03-017-0019 in 2024.pdf
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CONCEPT PLAN

CLIENT
CLIENT'S ADDRESS
CLIENT CITY STATE ZIP

CLIENT CONTACT
801-000-0000

T.WILLIAMS

C.PRESTONM.ELMER

7/5/22

CALL BLUESTAKES
@ 811 AT LEAST 48 HOURS
PRIOR TO THE
COMMENCEMENT OF  ANY
CONSTRUCTION.

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

R

HORIZONTAL GRAPHIC SCALE
0

( IN FEET )
HORZ: 1 inch =        ft.60

60 30 60 120

NOTES
PROPOSED ZONE R2A

1. 12,000 sq.ft. MINIMUM
2. 14,000 sq.ft. MINIMUM AVERAGE
3. 100' MINIMUM LOT FRONTAGE
4. 30' FRONT SETBACK
5. 25' REAR SETBACK
6. 10' SIDE SETBACK
7. 25' SIDE CORNER SETBACK

LOT AREA

ROADWAY

PARCEL A

TOTAL PROJECT

ACREAGE

TOTAL LOTS

DENSITY

AVERAGE LOT AREA

19.89 acres

46

2.31 UNITS/ACRE

14,633 sq.ft.

LAND USE TABLE
77.6%

19.4%

3.0%

100%

673,135 sq.ft.

167,914 sq.ft.

25,664 sq.ft.

866,713 sq.ft.
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Agenda Item #12 

 

Description  Discussion & Consideration: Accepting a Contract to 
Complete Feasibility Study for Indoor Recreation.  

Presenter  Chad Wright, Recreation Director  

Planning Commission 
Recommendation  

NA  

Staff 
Recommendation  

Move to accept a Contract with VCBO to Complete an 
Indoor Recreation Feasibility Study, with the condition 
that the City Attorney conduct a full legal review.  

Reviewed By  City Manager, Recreation Director, City Engineer, Mayor  

  

Background  
 
A comprehensive RFP for an Indoor Recreation Feasibility Study was posted on 
January 4th 2024 and Nibley City received 8 proposals for the project. The fee for 
services from these proposals ranged from $68,650 to $334,792 and came from several 
qualified local and national consultants. A selection committee made up of City staff, two 
members of City Council, and members of the Parks and Recreation committee 
completed a thorough review of the proposals and selected 3 firms to interview. The 
selection committee created a number of questions that each of the 3 finalist firms 
responded to in a presentation interview format. In addition to the standard questions 
provided before the interview some additional questions were asked including clarifying 
questions specific to the merits and offerings of proposals. Project references were 
checked by telephone conversation and through an online reference form that rated the 
experience of the 3 consulting firms on a number of critical questions. Responses to the 
interviews were scored, strengths and relative weaknesses were identified, overall 
project experience was considered, and priorities in scope and the merits of their 
approach were evaluated in selecting VCBO as the selection committees first choice 
recommendation.   
  
Nibley City Staff then met with VCBO to refine the scope and negotiate the best value 
for a number of project elements and deliverables. The initial base proposal from VCBO 
was $92,570, however we were able to negotiate a total cost down to $80,255 while still 
including the deliverables outlined in the RFP scope.   
  

VCBO also agreed to the following:  
1. Splitting the project into a Phase 1 and Phase 2 to allow Nibley City to pay for the 

project over 2 fiscal years ($48,000 this fiscal year, $32,255 next fiscal year)  

2. Final costs for Phase 1 will be no more than $50,000 (if Nibley City decides to 

add to the scope of the project)  

3. Including an exit clause: which allows Nibley City to end the project after Phase 1 if 

it is determined that Phase 2 is no longer viable or necessary.  

4. Only billing for services provided  

5. Phase 2 may be re-negotiated based on the results of Phase 1   
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lnit. 

dispute resolution method selected in this Agreement and within the period specified by applicable law, but in any case 
not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and Architect waive all 
claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance with this Section 4.1.1. 

§ 4.1.2 To the extent damages are covered by property insurance, the Owner and Architect waive all rights against 
each other and against the contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of the other for damages, except such rights 
as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance as set forth in AIA DocumentA201-2017, General Conditions of 
the Contract for Construction. The Owner or the Architect, as appropriate, shall require of the contractors, consultants, 
agents, and employees of any of them, similar waivers in favor of the other parties enumerated herein.

§ 4.1.3 The Architect and Owner waive consequential damages for claims, disputes, or other matters in question, 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement. This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential 
damages due to either party's termination of this Agreement, except as specifically provided in Section 5.7.

§ 4.2 Mediation
§ 4.2.1 Any claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be subject to 
mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution. If such matter relates to or is the subject of a lien 
arising out of the Architect's services, the Architect may proceed in accordance with applicable law to comply with the 
lien notice or filing deadlines prior to resolution of the matter by mediation or by binding dispute resolution.

§ 4.2.2 The Owner and Architect shall endeavor to resolve claims, disputes and other matters in question between 
them by mediation, which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American 
Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of this 
Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to this Agreement, and filed 
with the person or entity administering the mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of a 
complaint or other appropriate demand for binding dispute resolution but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in 
advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days 
from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration 
proceeding is stayed pursuant to this section, the parties may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) 
and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.

§ 4.2.3 The parties shall share the mediator's fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place 
where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall 
be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 4.2.4 If the parties do not resolve a dispute through mediation pursuant to this Section 4.2, the method of binding 
dispute resolution shall be litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction.

If the Owner and Architect do not select a method of binding dispute resolution, or do not subsequently agree in 
writing to a binding dispute resolution method other than litigation, the dispute will be resolved in a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

§ 4.3. Consolidation or Joinder
§ 4.3.1 Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any
other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration
permits consolidation; (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions oflaw or fact;
and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s).

§ 4.3.2 Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a 
common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided 
that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional 
person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question not 
described in the written consent.

AIA Document B102-2017. Copyright© 1917, 1926, 1948, 1951, 1953, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1967, 1970, 1974, 1977, 1987, 1997, 2007 and 2017. All rights 
reserved. "The American Institute of Architects," "American Institute of Architects," "AIA," the AIA Logo, and "AIA Contract Documents• are trademarks of The 

5 American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 13:57:30 ET on 03/08/2024 under Order No.4104246334 which expires on 10/23/2024, is not for 
resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents«> Tenns of Service. To report copyright violations, 
e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
User Notes: (1751532645) 
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§ 4.3.3 The Owner and Architect grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this 
Section 4.3, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights ofjoinder and consolidation as the Owner and 
Architect under this Agreement.

§ 4.3 The provisions of this Article 4 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 

§ 5.1 If the Owner fails to make payments to the Architect in accordance with this Agreement, such failure shall be
considered substantial nonperformance and cause for termination or, at the Architect's option, cause for suspension of
performance of services under this Agreement. If the Architect elects to suspend services, the Architect shall give
seven days' written notice to the Owner before suspending services. In the event of a suspension of services, the
Architect shall have no liability to the Owner for delay or damage caused the Owner because of such suspension of
services. Before resuming services, the Owner shall pay the Architect all sums due prior to suspension and any 
expenses incurred in the interruption and resumption of the Architect's services. The Architect's fees for the
remaining services and the time schedules shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 5.2 If the Owner suspends the Project, the Architect shall be compensated for services performed prior to notice of
such suspension. When the Project is resumed, the Architect shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the
interruption and resumption ofthe Architect's services. The Architect's fees for the remaining services and the time
schedules shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 5.3 If the Owner suspends the Project for more than 90 cumulative days for reasons other than the fault of the
Architect, the Architect may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than seven days' written notice.

§ 5.4 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days' written notice should the other party
fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party initiating the
termination.

§ 5.5 The Owner may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days' written notice to the Architect for the
Owner's convenience and without cause.

§ 5.6 If the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience pursuant to Section 5.5, or the Architect terminates
this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3, the Owner shall compensate the Architect for services performed prior to
termination, Reimbursable Expenses incurred, and costs attributable to termination, including the costs attributable to
the Architect's termination of consultant agreements.

§ 5.7 In addition to any amounts paid under Section 5.6, if the Owner terminates this Agreement for its convenience
pursuant to Section 5.5, or the Architect terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3, the Owner shall pay to the
Architect the following fees:
(Set forth below the amount of any termination or licensing fee, or the method for determining any termination or 
licensing fee.) 

.1 Termination Fee: 

.2 Licensing Fee, if the Owner intends to continue using the Architect's Instruments of Service: 

§ 5.8 Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, this Agreement shall terminate
(Check the appropriate box.) 

[ ] One year from the date of commencement of the Architect's services 
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[ ] One year from the date of Substantial Completion 

[ X] Other
(Insert another termination date or refer to a termination provision in an attached document or scope
of service.)

Six (6) months from the date of conclusion of Architect's services.

If the Owner and Architect do not select a termination date, this Agreement shall terminate one year from the date of 
commencement of the Architect's services. 

§ 5.9 The Owner's rights to use the Architect's Instruments of Service in the event ofa termination of this Agreement
are set forth in Article 3 and Section 5. 7.

ARTICLE 6 COMPENSATION 
§ 6.1 The Owner shall compensate the Architect as set forth below for services described in Section 1.1, or in the
attached exhibit or scope document incorporated into this Agreement in Section 9.2.
(Insert amount of. or basis for, compensation or indicate the exhibit or scope document in which compensation is 
provided for.) 

Phase I: Forty-eight Thousand Dollars ($48,000.00). 
Phase II: Thirty-two Thousand Two Hundred Fifty-five Dollars ($32,255.00). 

Architect will only bill for services provided. 

§ 6.2 Compensation for Reimbursable Expenses
§ 6.2.1 Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to compensation set forth in Section 6.1 and include expenses incurred
by the Architect and the Architect's consultants directly related to the Project, as follows:

.1 Transportation and authorized out-of-town travel and subsistence; 

.2 Permitting and other fees required by authorities having jurisdiction over the Project; 

.3 Printing, reproductions, plots, and standard form documents; 

.4 Postage, handling and delivery; 

.5 Renderings, physical models, mock-ups, professional photography, and presentation materials 
requested by the Owner or required for the Project; 

.6 If required by the Owner, and with the Owner's prior written approval, the Architect's consultants' 
expenses of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project, or the expense of 
additional insurance coverage or limits in excess of that normally maintained by the Architect's 
consultants; 

.7 Site office expenses; 

.8 Registration fees and any other fees charged by the Certifying Authority or by other entities as 
necessary to achieve the Sustainable Objective; and 

.9 Other similar Project-related expenditures. 

§ 6.2.2 For Reimbursable Expenses the compensation shall be the expenses incurred by the Architect and the
Architect's consultants plus Fifteen percent (15%) of the expenses incurred.

§ 6.2.3 Architect's Insurance. If the types and limits of coverage required in Section 1.5 are in addition to the types and
limits the Architect normally maintains, the Owner shall pay the Architect for the additional costs incurred by the
Architect for the additional coverages as set forth below:
(Insert the additional coverages the Architect is required to obtain in order to satisfy the requirements set forth in 
Section 1.5, and for which the Owner shall reimburse the Architect.) 

NI A at the time of this Agreement. Will be addressed by Amendment should a need arise. 
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§ 6.3 Payments to the Architect

§ 6.3.1 Progress Payments
§ 6.3.1.1 Unless otherwise agreed, payments for services shall be made monthly in proportion to services performed.
Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Architect's invoice. Amounts unpaid Sixty (60) days after the
invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal rate prevailing from time
to time at the principal place ofbusiness of the Architect.
(Insert rate of monthly or annual interest agreed upon.)

Eight Percent (8%) annually 

§ 6.3.2.2 The Owner shall not withhold amounts from the Architect's compensation to impose a penalty or liquidated
damages on the Architect, or to offset sums requested by or paid to contractors for the cost of changes in the Work,
unless the Architect agrees or has been found liable for the amounts in a binding dispute resolution proceeding.

§ 6.3.2.3 Records of Reimbursable Expenses and services performed on the basis of hourly rates shall be available to
the Owner at mutually convenient times.

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
§ 7.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located, excluding that
jurisdiction's choice oflaw rules. If the parties have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the
Federal Arbitration Act shall govern Section 4.3.

§ 7 .2 Except as separately defined herein, terms in this Agreement shall have the same meaning as those in AIA
Document A201 TM..._2017, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

§ 7.3 The Owner and Architect, respectively, bind themselves, their agents, successors, assigns, and legal
representatives to this Agreement. Neither the Owner nor the Architect shall assign this Agreement without the written
consent of the other, except that the Owner may assign this Agreement to a lender providing fmancing for the Project
if the lender agrees to assume the Owner's rights and obligations under this Agreement, including any payments due to
the Architect by the Owner prior to the assignment.

§ 7 .4 The parties shall agree upon protocols governing the transmission and use of Instruments of Service or any other
information or documentation in digital form.

§ 7.4.1 Any use of, or reliance on, all or a portion of a building information model without agreement to protocols
governing the use of, and reliance on, the information contained in the model and without having those protocols set
forth, shall be at the using or relying party's sole risk and without liability to the other party and its contractors or
consultants, the authors of, or contributors to, the building information model, and each of their agents and employees.

§ 7.5 If the Owner requests the Architect to execute certificates, the proposed language of such certificates shall be
submitted to the Architect for review at least 14 days prior to the requested dates of execution. If the Owner requests
the Architect to execute consents reasonably required to facilitate assignment to a lender, the Architect shall execute
all such consents that are consistent with this Agreement, provided the proposed consent is submitted to the Architect
for review at least 14 days prior to execution. The Architect shall not be required to execute certificates or consents
that would require knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this Agreement.

§ 7 .6 Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor of,
a third party against either the Owner or Architect.

§ 7.7 Unless otherwise required in this Agreement, the Architect shall have no responsibility for the discovery,
presence, handling, removal or disposal of, or exposure of persons to, hazardous materials or toxic substances in any
form at the Project site.

§ 7.8 The Architect shall have the right to include photographic or artistic representations of the design of the Project
among the Architect's promotional and professional materials. The Architect shall be given reasonable access to the
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§ 9.2 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents identified below:
.1 AIA Document B 1 Q2TM_2Q 17, Standard F onn Agreement Between Owner and Architect 

.2 Exhibits: 
(Check the appropriate box for any exhibits 

incorporated into this Agreement.) 

[ X ] Other Exhibits incorporated into this Agreement: 
(Clearly identify any other exhibits incorporated into this Agreement.) 

Exhibit A: Fee Proposal - Nibley Recreation Center, Feasibility Study 
Exhibit B: VCBO Insurance Certificate 

.3 Other documents: 
(List other documents, including the Architect's scope of services document, hereby incorporated into 
the Agreement.) 

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above. 

OWNER (Signature) 

Chad Wright 
Nibley City 
(Printed name and title) 

ARCHITECT (Signature) 

Brent Tippets, Principal 
VCBO Architecture 
(Printed name, title, and license number, if required) 
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Agenda Item #13 

 

Description Discussion & Consideration: Resolution 24-07--

Approving a Contract (Letter of Engagement) for 

Legal Services for Nibley City (First Reading) 

Presenter Justin Maughan, City Manager 

Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

NA 

Staff 
Recommendation 

Move to Approve a Contract (Letter of Engagement) 
for Legal Services for Nibley City 

Reviewed By Mayor, City Manager, City Engineer, City Planner 

 

Background 

 

Nibley City Attorney Rob Patterson, has decided to go “in house” and take a full time job 

with another municipality in Utah.  In response, staff drafted and issued a Request for 

Proposals. The RFP was posted on the Utah State Bar website, as well as Nibley City’s 

web site. In addition staff did internet searches, and emailed the RFP directly to 

attorneys accross the state that specialize in muncipal legal services. Nibley City 

recieved three responses to the RFP. Mayor, City Manager, Planner and Engineer 

reviewed the proposals, and interviewed all three of the firms. After the interviews, the 

selection committee discussed and recomends to the City Council, that the City 

engages Johnson and Yellowhorse for General Municpal Legal services. This happens 

to be the firm that Rob Patterson was with. The reasons for selecting Johnson and 

Yellowhorse are: familiarity with Nibley City, personal relationships with former city 

attorney, who will remain engaged with the firm, (but on a limited basis), collecitve 

experience of other firm members, low cost compared to other firms that responded to 

the RFP and proven record of great service from multiple attorneys from the firm in the 

past.   
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RESOLUTION 24-07 

 

A RESOLUTION SELECTING NIBLEY CITY’S ATTORNEY 

AND RELATED MATTERS 

 

 

WHEREAS, Nibley City has issued a Request for Proposals for a qualified attorney or law firm to provide 

municipal legal services and act as general counsel to Nibley City; and 

 

WHEREAS, Nibley City has received and considered all responses and desires to select an attorney or legal 

firm: 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of Nibley City, Utah, as follows: 

 

1. The City Council hereby selects Johnson & Yellowhorse as its attorneys to act as general counsel to the City 

and to provide municipal legal services to the City. 

 

2. The City Council authorizes the City Manager to execute an agreement with said law firm establishing the 

terms and conditions of the firm’s representation of the City, with such representation to begin 14 March 

2024. 

 

3. All parts of this Resolution are severable, and if any section, clause or provision of this Resolution shall, for 

any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of any such section, 

clause or provision shall not affect the remaining sections, clauses or provisions of this Resolution. 

 

4. All resolutions or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and 

this Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its approval and adoption 

 

PASSED BY THE NIBLEY CITY COUNCIL THIS  _____ day of _______________, 2024.  

 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

            Larry Jacobsen, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________________ 

Cheryl Bodily, City Recorder 
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NIBLEY CITY REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

NIBLEY CITY GENERAL MUNICIPAL LEGAL SERVICES 

Nibley City is seeking proposals from qualified attorneys or qualified legal firms to provide 

general municipal legal services. The deadline for submitting proposals is February 16, 2024, at 

5:00 PM. Proposals must be formatted, addressed, and delivered as follows: 

• Format: PDF format 

• Delivery: By email as addressed below 

• Address:  To: Justin Maughan, City Manager 

Email: jm@nibleycity.com 

Subject: Municipal General Counsel Proposal 

The anticipated RFP schedule is as follows: 

• Request for Proposals Issued: February 5, 2024 

• Submissions Accepted: Begin February 5, 2024, End February 16, 2024, at 5:00 PM 

• Possible Interviews of Selected Applicants: Between February 19 and February 21, 2024 

• Selection of Candidate: After interviews, if any, are complete. City Council review of 

contract anticipated for February 22, 2024 

• Anticipated Effective Date of Contract: March 1, 2024 

Late, incomplete, and improperly formatted or addressed proposals may not be accepted. The City 

reserves the right to waive formalities in the proposal process. The City reserves the right to accept 

or reject any or all of the proposals and to change the proposed RFP schedule as best serves the 

City’s needs and convenience. A copy of this request for proposals may be found online at 

www.nibleycity.com. Questions regarding this proposal may be directed to Justin Maughan, 

Nibley City Manager, jm@nibleycity.com. 

  



I. INTRODUCTION 

 Nibley City is a growing municipality located in Cache County. Nibley City is soliciting 

written proposals from qualified attorneys and law firms to provide efficient, experienced, and 

effective general municipal legal services for Nibley City. This procurement does not include 

prosecution services or criminal defense services. This is a qualifications and experienced-based 

RFP, where price or cost of services may not necessarily be the deciding factor in the selection of 

a proposal.  

 At the end of the submission period on February 16, 2024, at 5:00 PM, an evaluation 

committee will evaluate all submitted proposals. The evaluation committee may select one or more 

finalists for interviews by the evaluation committee or may select one proposal to be forwarded to 

the Nibley City Council for final approval and appointment. Upon completion of the evaluation 

process by the evaluation committee, the Nibley City Manager will advise the applicants of the 

selection and negotiate an agreement based on the submitted proposal. The Nibley City Council 

shall make a final decision and appointment. Questions regarding this proposal may be directed to 

Justin Maughan, Nibley City Manager, jm@nibleycity.com. 

II. SCOPE OF WORK TO BE PROVIDED 

 Nibley City seeks to enter into a contract with an applicant to provide prosecution services 

as follows: 

1. Duration of Contract: Nibley City anticipates entering into a contract with an attorney/firm 

to provide general municipal legal services on an indefinite, as-needed basis, terminable 

at-will by either party. 

2. General Contract Terms: Nibley City anticipates that the contract will be for general legal 

services, excluding criminal prosecution and defense, with the selected attorney/firm acting 

as an independent contractor and not an employee of the City. The City anticipates that no 

benefits other than the agreed-upon fee will be provided to the selected attorney/firm. 

3. Duties and Responsibilities of Counsel: The applicant would serve at the direction and 

under the general oversight of the Nibley City Mayor and Nibley City Manager in fulfilling 

the following duties: 

a. Advise the Mayor, City Council, City staff, and committees on legal questions 

arising from or related to the conduct of City business and government operations. 

b. Prepare, review, and/or edit proposed ordinances and resolutions. 

c. Prepare, review, negotiate, and/or edit contracts and instruments of all types, 

including development agreements, PUDs, settlement agreements, bonds and 

assurances, deeds and easements, and real estate purchase, sale, license, and use 

agreements. 

d. Prepare, review, and/or edit personnel policies and other City policies and 

procedures. 



e. Advise and represent the City in personnel and disciplinary actions and appeals. 

f. Advise and represent the City in land use matters, including providing staff review 

of proposed developments or pending and possible land use applications, and 

providing representation in land use appeals and variances, as requested. 

g. Represent and defend the City in civil and administrative proceedings, including 

enforcement of City ordinances, eminent domain proceedings, and claims against 

the City or its officers, as requested. 

h. Attend City meetings, including City Council and Planning Commission meetings, 

as requested.  

i. Maintain appropriate records and files 

j. Such other related duties as assigned by Nibley City 

III. MINIMUM EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATIONS 

 Each applicant must meet the following minimum qualifications: 

1. Be a member in good standing with the Utah State Bar Association 

2. Have experience in providing general municipal legal services. 

3. Have experience with land use matters, including requirements of the Utah State Land Use, 

Development and Management Act and the creation, implementation, application, and 

enforcement of local zoning and other land use regulations. 

4. Be familiar with applicable laws, caselaw, and regulation related do local and municipal 

government operations, including duties, powers, and authority of municipal legislative 

bodies and other municipal boards and commissions, public employment law, construction 

and professional service contracts, and public financing;  

5. Be familiar with court rules, rules of procedure, constitutional provisions and protections, 

ethical and professional obligations, and caselaw relevant to common municipal civil 

litigation, including eminent domain actions, land use appeals, nuisances, and city code 

enforcement. 

6. Be familiar with or be willing to quickly become familiar with Nibley City ordinances and 

land use regulations. 

7. Maintain a policy of professional liability insurance and provide proof of the same to 

Nibley City upon request. 



IV. FORMAT AND CONTENT OF PROPOSALS 

 Proposals shall provide a straightforward, concise description of the applicant’s 

capabilities to meet and carry out the requirements of this RFP. Emphasis should be on 

completeness and clarity of content, the experience and qualifications of the applicant, and the cost 

effectiveness of the proposal. All proposals shall be valid and binding for sixty (60) days following 

the proposal due date (February 16, 2014, at 5:00 PM) and will be part of the contract that is 

negotiated with the City. The information requested herein is a requirement for submitting a 

complete proposal. At the sole option of the City, incomplete or improperly submitted proposals 

may not be considered. The City reserves the right to ask for additional or clarifying information. 

Format 

All proposals must be formatted as follows: 

1. Format: PDF 

2. Length: Maximum 10 pages, inclusive of resumes, work examples, and other submissions 

3. Formatting: 8 ½ by 11 pages, one inch margins; Times New Roman or Arial font, no 

smaller than 12-point 

4. Page Numbers: Pages must be consecutively numbered 

Content 

All proposals must contain the following content, in the following order: 

1. Cover Letter/Executive Summary: A cover letter addressed to Justin Maughan, City 

Manager, and signed by a duly constituted official legally authorized to bind the applicant 

to both its proposal and cost schedule. The cover letter must include name, address, email 

address and telephone number of the proposer submitting the proposal and name, title, 

address, telephone number and email address of the person to contact that is authorized to 

represent the proposer and to whom correspondence should be directed. The cover letter 

should also contain an executive summary of the proposal, including an introduction to the 

applicant and a summary of the key provisions of the Proposal. Provide a statement 

describing why you or the firm is qualified and able to perform the scope of work. 

2. Table of Contents: A table identifying proposal contents by section and page number 

3. Attorneys and Staff: A description of the applicant’s qualifications, experience, and firm 

structure. This should include, at a minimum, the following: 

a. Describe your office structure and location, including attorneys and staff, and 

identify the lead attorney or attorneys. 

b. Summarize each attorney’s background, education, and legal experience including 

the number of years in practice and scope of services provided. 



c. Describe your experience providing representation to municipal and other local 

government entities and provide a list of current government clients, including the 

number of years of such work and experience 

d. Provide at least two examples of complex issues you or your firm has successfully 

managed and resolved for public entities. 

e. Address how each attorney satisfies each requirement set forth in Section III. 

Minimum Experience and Qualifications, including how you propose to familiarize 

yourself with Nibley City’s ordinances. 

4. Proposal: A description of the applicant’s proposal for performing the scope of work and 

the proposed contract terms. This should include, at a minimum, the following: 

a. Describe how you propose to manage the provision of services to the City. For 

example, would there be a lead attorney and, if so, who would that attorney be and 

how would other attorneys be involved, how will interns or associates be 

supervised, will there be a rotating number of attorneys representing the City, and 

how will absences or unavailability of an attorney be handled. 

b. Fee schedule. Propose at least one method or fee schedule for the services to be 

rendered. A variety of fee structures may be proposed, and the City reserves the 

right to negotiate a final fee schedule This should address the following as needed: 

i. Proposed retainer fee (if applicable) – describe the proposed fee, the 

services included in or excluded from the fee, and any proposed hourly fees 

for services beyond the retainer 

ii. Proposed hourly fee (if applicable) – describe the proposed hourly rate and 

fee schedule for all services, including travel 

iii. Proposed flat fee (if applicable) – describe the proposed flat fee schedule 

iv. Describe how travel, court appointments, meetings, research, and court and 

witness costs will be addressed in the proposed fee schedule 

v. Describe all out-of-pocket costs and their rates, if any, that would be billed 

separately from the proposed fee schedule 

vi. Describe how fees will be billed and invoiced in the proposed fee schedule, 

including detail provided, frequency of billing, late fees, etc. 

c. Describe any specific benefits, services, or contract terms that you want to have 

Nibley City consider providing. Nibley City anticipates that the selected attorney 

or firm will provide services as an independent contractor, and that the City will 

provide no benefits other than the agreed-upon fee as compensation. 

d. Describe any work that would not be covered by your proposal. 



e. Provide the date you would be able to begin providing legal services to Nibley City 

and how you would handle the transition. 

5. Conflicts of Interest: Disclose any potential conflicts of interest or other restrictions, 

personal or professional, you may face in your provision of services to Nibley City. 

6. References: Provide contact information for three public entity clients, current or prior, so 

reference checks can be conducted 

7. Additional Information or References: Provide any other information that you feel is 

relevant and helpful for the evaluation of your experience, qualifications, and proposal, 

including resumes, license documents, awards and accolades, or other descriptions related 

to the scope of work, minimum experience and qualifications, proposal, or evaluation 

criteria. You may use this section to address items not described by this RFP and to 

highlight those aspects of your service and experience that distinguish you from others. 

V. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 All proposals shall be evaluated using the following criteria and given a score out of 5, 

which will be multiplied by that factor’s relative weight (indicated below as a decimal), then added 

with the other criteria scores for a total score out of 5. Price or cost of services will be a significant 

factor in evaluating proposals, but will be balanced against the other criteria: 

1. (.05) Proper proposal format and content, complete and clear responses to RFP 

2. (.15) Experience with land use matters, including state law requirements, development 

agreements and PUDs, and land use disputes 

3. (.15) Experience with representing municipal bodies in non-land use matters, including 

powers and duties of municipal legislative bodies, municipal employment and personnel 

issues, and general civil litigation 

4. (.15) Availability of attorneys and support staff commensurate with the level of service 

required by the City 

5. (.15) Reputation for high-quality service, ethical conduct, sound judgment, integrity, 

promptness, reliability, and professionalism in relationships with Nibley City officials, 

officers, and employees, and other , based on references and experience 

6. (.35) Costs of services, as described in the proposed fee schedule 

VI. PROCESS AND GENERAL TERMS OF RFP 

The deadline for submitting proposals is February 16, 2024, at 5:00 PM. Proposals must be 

formatted, addressed, and delivered as follows: 

• Format: PDF format 

• Delivery: By email as addressed below 



• Address:  To: Justin Maughan, City Manager 

Email: jm@nibleycity.com 

Subject: Municipal General Counsel Proposal 

The anticipated RFP schedule is as follows: 

• Request for Proposals Issued: February 5, 2024 

• Submissions Accepted: February 5, 2024, to February 16, 2024, at 5:00 PM 

• Possible Interviews of Selected Applicants: Between February 19 and February 21, 2024 

• Selection of Candidate: After interviews, if any, are complete. City Council review of 

contract anticipated for February 22, 2024 

• Anticipated Effective Date of Contract: March 1, 2024 

Late, incomplete, and improperly formatted or addressed proposals may not be accepted. The City 

reserves the right to waive formalities in the proposal process. The City reserves the right to accept 

or reject any or all of the proposals and to change the proposed RFP schedule as best serves the 

City’s needs and convenience. 

At the end of the submission period on February 16, 2024, at 5:00 PM, an evaluation committee 

will evaluate all submitted proposals. The evaluation committee may reject any proposal from an 

applicant that does not meet the minimum experience and qualifications, may select one or more 

finalists for interviews by the evaluation committee or may select one proposal as the 

recommended proposal to be forwarded to the Nibley City Council for final approval and 

appointment. Upon completion of the evaluation process by the evaluation committee, the Nibley 

City Manager will advise the applicants of the selection and negotiate an agreement based on the 

submitted proposal. The agreement will define the extent of the services to be rendered, method 

and amount of compensation. The successful applicant agrees to enter into an agreement with the 

City. The City reserves the right to negotiate a final agreement that is in the best interests of the 

City, regardless of the terms of this RFP, which may be terminated at any time by either party. The 

Nibley City Council shall make a final decision and appointment and shall have the right to 

approve, modify, or reject any proposed contract term. 

The City reserves the right to require other evidence of technical, managerial, financial, or other 

abilities prior to selection. Further, the City reserves the right to waive formalities in the proposal 

process; to accept or reject any or all proposals received as a result of this request; to request additional 

information concerning any proposal; to accept or negotiate modifications to any proposal; to request 
final and best offers; to negotiate with qualified attorneys; to interview any proposer; to cancel, in part 

or in its entirety, the request for proposals; or to waive any irregularities in any proposal following the 

proposal submission deadline date; in order to serve the best interests of the City. City also reserves 

the right to negotiate separately with any proposer whatsoever, in any manner necessary to serve the 

best interests of the City. This request for proposals does not commit the City to pay any costs incurred 

in the preparation of a proposal, nor will any such costs be paid by the City. 

Questions regarding this proposal may be directed to Justin Maughan, Nibley City Manager, 

jm@nibleycity.com. 
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